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 1.  TIME:  10:15   CASE#: MSC18-01289 
CASE NAME: COLVIS VS. GARAVENTA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of GARAVENTA FILED 
BY LOUISA V. BINSWANGER, SILVIO A. GARAVENTA JR., WALTER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendants Louisa Binswanger, Walter Binswanger II, Walter Binswanger III, and Silvio 
Garaventa, Jr. demur to Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) filed by plaintiff Joseph Garaventa 
in this consolidated case.  The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend regarding all causes 
of action as to Walter Binswanger II, Walter Binswanger III, and Silvio Garaventa, Jr.  (CCP § 
430.10 (e).)  It is overruled as to Louisa Binswanger as to the Fifth Cause of Action and 
sustained as to all the other causes of action with leave to amend.  (CCP § 430.10 (e).)  Any 
amended complaint shall be filed and served on or before August 27, 2021.  If defendants file a 
further demurrer, plaintiff shall file a redlined copy of the amended complaint with his 
Opposition, so the court can easily track the changes. 

 
The court grants defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice filed May 25, 2021.  It takes 

judicial notice of the existence and contents of the exhibits attached to the Request. 
 

First, Second, and Third Causes of Action, Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (b) – (d): 
 
These causes of action are a series of three claims brought under the Racketeer 

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”). 
 

RICO renders criminally and civilly liable "any person" who uses or 
invests income derived "from a pattern of racketeering activity" to 
acquire an interest in or to operate an enterprise engaged in 
interstate commerce, § 1962(a); who acquires or maintains an 
interest in or control of such an enterprise "through a pattern of 
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racketeering activity," § 1962(b); who, being employed by or 
associated with such an enterprise, conducts or participates in the 
conduct of its affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity," § 
1962(c); or, finally, who conspires to violate the first three 
subsections of § 1962, § 1962(d).  (H. J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell 
Tel. Co. (1989) 492 U.S. 229, 232-233.) 

 
Because the allegedly deficient elements of these claims are the same, the court will 

discuss in detail only the First Cause of Action under section 1962 (b), as exemplary of the 
problems contained in all three.   
 

“Any person injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of section 1962 . 
. .  may sue therefor . . . and shall recover threefold the damages he sustains and the cost of the 
suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fees.”  (18 U.S.C. § 1964 (c).)   

 
Although section 1964 (c) provides for a private cause of action in federal district court, 

state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over RICO claims. (Cianci v. Superior Court (1985) 40 
Cal.3d 903, 908.) 
 

In exercising this [concurrent] jurisdiction state courts are applying 
and, where necessary, interpreting federal statutory law. In this 
respect the decisions of the United States Supreme Court are 
binding and the decisions of the lower federal courts are entitled to 
great weight, but where federal precedents are in conflict or simply 
lacking, then we must make an independent determination of 
federal law. (Gervase v. Superior Court (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 
1218, 1229.)   

 
 “Although RICO's origins would suggest that it is concerned with defendants who might 

be described as ‘mobsters,’ ‘gangsters,’ and similar appellations, in fact its reach is broad and 
includes otherwise law-abiding businesses and persons who violate its provisions.”  (Id. at 
1229.)   
 

The Ninth Circuit holds that to state a civil RICO claim under section 1964, the plaintiff 
must allege: (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (known as “predicate acts”) 
(4) of racketeering activity (5) causing injury to plaintiff's business or property.  (Living Designs, 
Inc. v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. (9th Cir. 2005) 431 F.3d 353, 361.)  A “pattern” of 
racketeering activity does not exist unless there is evidence of at least two predicate acts.  
(Planned Parenthood v. Am. Coalition of Life Activists (Dist. Ct. Or. 1996) 945 F. Supp. 1355, 
1379.)  In addition to these elements, for there to be a violation of section 1962, the “enterprise” 
must engage in or have activities that affect interstate commerce.  (18 U.S.C. § 1962 (b).) 

 
In an attempt to state the necessary elements, the SAC alleges that after the death of 

Silvio Garaventa, Sr. in 1998 and Mary Garaventa in 2015, each of the five Garaventa children 
has owned 5% of the Garaventa Entities and the Garaventa Family Trust has owned the other 
70%.  The Garaventa Entities are primarily a garbage collection and recycling concern.   
 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   08/13/21 

 
 

- 3 - 

 Louisa Garaventa, the sister of plaintiff Joseph Garaventa, has been the Trustee of the 
Trust since Mary’s death.  She is supposed to increase each child’s share of the Garaventa 
Entities to 20% and decease the Trust’s interest to 0%, but she refuses to do so because she 
profits in trustee’s fees, control, and money if the Trust remains in existence and continues to 
own its current share of the Entities.  (¶ 8, 9 11.) 
 
 The Trust owns an interest in a family-owned Duck Club, called Piper’s Patch.  Plaintiff, 
Joseph, offered to buy Piper’s Patch in 2016.  Through a strawman, Louisa was secretly trying 
to buy that property for herself and her husband Walter Binswanger, II (“Walter II”).  Louisa, 
Walter II, and their son Walter III became very angry and embittered at plaintiff’s exercise of his 
right of first refusal.  Despite their opposition, plaintiff was able to buy Piper’s Patch in January 
2019. (¶ 13-16.) 
 
 On May 13, 2018, before plaintiff completed that purchase, Louisa ousted him as the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Garaventa Entities.  This was allegedly in retaliation for one or 
more of the following:  (1) his failure to agree to the sale of Piper’s Patch to someone other than 
himself; (2) his claim a week before May 13, 2018 that Louisa was improperly commingling 
funds of the Garaventa Entities with those of the Trust; and (3) the claim of the husband of 
another sibling that Louisa was having the Garaventa Entities pay monies that the Trust owed to 
the Trust’s beneficiaries. (¶ 17.)   
 
 In March 2019, after plaintiff purchased Piper’s Patch, a gun was fired somewhere 
around the Piper’s Patch property and on October 8, 2019, an anonymous letter was sent to 
Joseph threatening him and his children.  The letter referred to the gun shot incident six months 
before and was allegedly written by a property owner adjacent to Piper’s Patch.  (¶ 18, 19.)  The 
SAC implies, but never directly alleges, that defendants are behind the letter.  In this connection, 
the SAC states there is proof that Walter II bought the stamp that was used to send the letter.  
(¶ 20.)   
 
 Plaintiff believes that other siblings stole $1 million of Mary’s jewelry from the family safe 
after her death.  Plaintiff does not allege when the jewelry was stolen or he discovered the theft.  
He then alleges that when Louisa filed an IRS Form 706 (on a date again not stated) without the 
value of that $1 million in jewelry, she was lying to the IRS.  (¶ 21-23.) 
 
 Finally, the Garaventa family established an entity to provide worker’s compensation 
insurance to the Garaventa Entities in 2012, called SMG.  Plaintiff, Joseph, was the managing 
member, but in approximately 2020 Silvio got a third person to file a false Statement of 
Information with the Secretary of State saying that Silvio was.  Silvio then took that document to 
SMG’s bank, Union Bank, and used it to replace Joseph as authorized signatory and write a 
check to Louisa for $1 million.  That $1 million is currently the subject of an interpleader action.  
(¶ 24-27.)   
 
 Defendants argues these allegations of the  SAC fail to allege three things necessary to 
state a claim under RICO: (a) an “enterprise” that is sufficiently distinct from the persons 
engaging in the predicate acts of racketeering; (b) a sufficient pattern of racketeering activity; 
and (c) an enterprise that has a sufficient impact on interstate commerce. 
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 The court discusses these arguments in order: 
 

a. Enterprise. 
 

The SAC alleges that the “enterprise” is an association of four of Joseph’s his relatives:  
Louisa, Walter II, Walter III, and Silvio. 

 
RICO states that the “enterprise” referred to in section 1962 need not be a separate legal 

entity.  It can be merely an association in fact of individuals.  (18 U.S.C. § 1961 (4).) 
 
However, not all persons engaging in racketeering activity are automatically part of an 

“enterprise” or of the same “enterprise.”  For an association of persons to constitute an 
“enterprise” for purposes of RICO, the associated persons must have a common purpose of 
engaging in in a course of conduct, the alleged enterprise must have an ongoing organization, 
and the various associates in it must function as a continuing unit.  (People ex rel. Sepulveda v. 
Highland Fed. Savings & Loan (1993)14 Cal.App.4th 1692, 1713 (“Sepulveda”).)  “The 
‘enterprise’ is not the ‘pattern of racketeering activity’; it is an entity separate and apart from the 
pattern of activity in which it engages.”  (United States v. Turkette (1981) 452 U.S. 576, 583.)  
The enterprise must have an organization, formal or informal, to be an entity separate and apart 
from the pattern of racketeering activity in which it engages.  (Chang v. Chen (9th Cir. 1996) 80 
F.3d 1293, 1297-1298.)  Section 1962 requires the involvement of both persons who commit 
acts or racketeering and an enterprise “that is not simply the same ‘person’ referred to by a 
different name.”  (Cedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King (2001) 533 U.S. 158, 161; see also 
Chang v. Noh (9th Cir. 2019) 787 Fed. Appx. 466, 467.)   “A comparison of the severe penalties 
and remedies authorized by RICO with those for section 371 conspiracy indicates that RICO 
‘must have been directed at participation in enterprises consisting of more than simple 
conspiracies to perpetrate the predicate acts of racketeering.’”  (Chang, supra, 80 F.3d at 1299.)   

 
Presumably, Joseph has defined the enterprise as he has because there would be 

problems with defining it as the Trust, the Garaventa Entities, or SMG.  There may be 
insufficient acts of racketeering activities to state a RICO claim if the enterprise is defined as any 
of these. 

 
But defining the enterprise as the four individuals leaves it unclear whether there is, in 

fact, any enterprise distinct from those individuals.  Joseph fails to state where in the SAC he 
alleges that the alleged enterprise has an ongoing organization or that the individuals within it 
function as a continuing unit.  He fails to state where the SAC alleges that the enterprise even 
existed except when the four individuals were committing the various individual alleged acts of 
racketeering. 

 
Paragraph 29 of the SAC is where these allegations are supposed to be located.  It 

recites the appropriate legal conclusions:  the “common purpose” was to harm plaintiff 
economically (p. 9, line 11); and the enterprise had an “ongoing organization” and was a 
“continuing unit” (p. 9, lines 11-12.)  But the facts cited in support of the latter conclusions fail to 
do more than recite again some of the predicate acts:  termination of plaintiff’s services as CEO 
of the Garaventa Entities (when paragraph 17 alleges that Louisa alone effected this termination 
by voting the Trust’s 70% interest in the Garaventa Entities in favor of it on May 31, 2018 (see 
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also ¶ 9, p. 3, lines 13-17)); and naming Silvio as managing member of SMG and attempting to 
divert $1 million of its funds in early 2020 (when ¶ 27 alleges that someone not part of the 
enterprise, Michael Bonnifield, and Silvio alone accomplished this). 

 
For an enterprise to have an ongoing organization, there must be “some sort of structure 

. . . within the group for the making of decisions, whether it be hierarchical or consensual. There 
must be some mechanism for controlling and directing the affairs of the group on an on-going, 
rather than an ad hoc, basis.  (United States v. Riccobene (3rd Cir. 1983) 709 F.2d 214, 222; see 
also Shaffer v. Williams (5th Cir. 1986) 794 F.2d 1030, 1032.)  Plaintiff alleges no such structure.  
Chang is an example of similarly insufficient allegations.  There the court stated,  

 
Appellants have not alleged a structure to the organization beyond 
that which was inherent in the alleged acts of racketeering activity. 
The second amended complaint did not allege the existence of a 
system of authority that guided the operation of the alleged 
enterprise. Although each Appellee performed the same specific 
functions in each transaction, . . . there was no decision-making 
apparatus that limited or guided Appellees in the performance of 
their respective duties. Each Appellee conducted his or her role in 
the alleged fraudulent real estate transactions autonomously.  
(Chang, supra, 80 F.3d at 1300.)   

 
(Cf. Riccobene, supra, 709 F.2d at 224 (finding the allegation sufficient because the complaint 
alleged the commission of “several different predicate offenses and other activities on an on-
going basis”) (emphasis added).)  

 
For the enterprise to be a continuing unit, “each person [must] perform a role in the 

group consistent with the organizational structure” (Riccobene, supra at 223) and the 
associates’ behavior must be ongoing rather than isolated activity.  (Odom v. Microsoft Corp. (9th 
Cir. 2007) 486 F.3d 541, 552-553 (sufficiently alleged); see also McCaul v. First Mont. Bank, 
Inc., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 224274, 15-17 (insufficiently alleged).)  Plaintiff fails to state where 
he alleges facts supporting the conclusion that the enterprise was a continuing unit rather than a 
unit that formed when it undertook each new act of racketeering and dissolved immediately 
afterwards. 
 

b. Pattern of racketeering activity. 
 

Defendants argue that the SAC does not allege a pattern of racketeering as defined by 
statute, but their argument is unsupported by any pertinent legal authority or examples.  (Reply 
Brief at 5:2-4.)  They argue that the actions charged are “one off” events (6:4), implying that a 
valid claim might require a pattern of a particular type of racketeering activity (such as repeated 
instances of murder or extortion (see Rone, infra), but cite no case which says this.   

 
For his part, plaintiff essentially pleads and argues it is enough if a series of racketeering 

activities is committed to achieve the common purpose of depriving him of money or property, 
but he cites no case which specifically holds that either.  (But see Sun Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. 
Dierdorff (9th Cir. 1987) 825 F.2d 187, 193 (“it is not necessary to show more than one 
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fraudulent scheme or criminal episode to establish a pattern under Sedima. . . . continuity exists 
if the predicate acts are not isolated, i.e., if the predicate acts posed a threat of continuing 
activity.”) 

 
In the absence of better briefing, the court takes no position on this issue now.  However, 

in California, statutory causes of action, like this one, must be pleaded with particularity.  
(Covenant Care, Inc. v. Sup. Ct. (2004) 32 Cal.4h 771, 790.)  That typically means, at a 
minimum, citing the applicable statue and specifying the conduct that violates the statute.  (See 
Searcy v. Hemet Unified School Dist. (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 792, 802.) Here, presumably 
because it better suits his purposes, Joseph has chosen to make each individual action seem as 
bad as possible by using strong language, such as insurance fraud and extortion, without 
focusing on the details of the particular conduct and alleging  that the specific conduct violates a 
statute mentioned in section 1961 (1).  However, not all crimes qualify as predicate acts under 
RICO, only those listed in section 1961 (1).  (See Annulli v. Panikkar (3rd Cir. 1989) 200 F.3d 
189, 199 (theft by deception, a crime under Pennsylvania state law, does not qualify.)) 
 

The court therefore concludes the SAC fails to allege a pattern of racketeering activity.  
Should plaintiff choose to amend, he should examine each action he has alleged, consider 
whether it qualifies as section 1961 (1) racketeering activity; reallege it in specific rather than 
general terms, and state which statute listed in section 1961 (1) it violates; or drop it from these 
causes of action if the answer is none (as would seem to be the case regarding terminating 
plaintiff as CEO of the Garaventa Entities, the vague allegation of “insurance fraud,” when there 
is no allegation that anyone submitted a false insurance application or claim, and the allegation 
of extortion (see Cal. Penal C. § 518.)    
 

By realleging the racketeering activity specifically, the court means, for example, using 
terms in paragraph 31 like “threatening anonymous letter” (not “extortion” or “terroristic threats) 
and presenting a fraudulent Statement of Information for SMG to Union Bank (not “SMG, LLC 
Bank fraud”).  The court is not requiring that plaintiff re-allege each activity with as much detail 
as appears in the “Facts/Background” section of the SAC.  Further, in paragraph 31 or its 
successor, each example of racketeering activity should be alleged only once, not repeatedly, in 
slightly different terms, in an attempt to gain force through repetition.  The court needs to know 
clearly the specific conduct and the statute under section 1961 (1) that the conduct violates to 
be able to evaluate on any future demurrer whether two or more predicate acts have been 
alleged. 
 

c. Interstate commerce. 
 
 The issue here is whether the enterprise alleged engaged in activities that affect 
interstate commerce. 
 
 Paragraph 30 of the SAC purports to allege this.   
 

The schemes and illegal activities created by Defendants, 
including . . . [the threatening] letter sent to Plaintiff through the 
United States Postal Service, the mailing of fraudulent IRS tax 
forms, termination of [plaintiff’s] services as CEO of the Garaventa 
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Entities, and theft of valuable property, was and is . . . an 
enterprise engaged in and whose fraudulent activities affect . . . 
interstate . . . commerce.  Particularly, affecting interstate 
commerce among the Garaventa entities, are the garbage 
companies . . . which engage in interstate commerce through 
acquisition and use of equipment and vehicles supplied from out-
of-state . . . , and SMG Group, LLC, part of the insurance captive 
in a pool involving other insurers . . . providing worker’s 
compensation coverage for the Garaventa Entities.  These 
Garaventa Entities . . . business transactions necessarily involve 
communications and acts crossing state boundaries . . .  All 
defendants considered together to send extortion letters through 
the United States Mail (mail fraud), to submit fraudulent entity 
documents through interstate online wires (wire fraud), fraudulent 
bank documents through the interstate online wires (wire fraud) . . 
. and . . . mailed . . . tax documents . . . . SMG, a shareholder in 
Presidio Holdings, an offshore workers’ compensation pool that 
does interstate business. . . . Union Bank is a multinational 
company with branches in all of the United States, involving 
interstate commerce. 

 
 In their Opening Brief, defendants argue these allegations are insufficient because the 
enterprise is the four individuals, not the Garaventa Entities or the captive worker’s 
compensation insurance provider, SMG.  In support of this argument, defendants cite one 
federal district court case, where the court summarily held insufficient the plaintiff’s allegation 
that the enterprise prevented the victim from focusing on his interstate activities.  
 

In his Opposition, plaintiff argues a potential impact on interstate commerce is sufficient, 
that this may be found when the enterprise’s purposes necessarily implicate some other 
business which is involved in or whose activities do affect interstate commerce, and that the 
impact on interstate commerce in either event need only be de minimis.   

 
In their Reply Brief, defendants fail to discuss or distinguish any of plaintiff’s authorities 

and cite only one additional case, which states, “The impact the defendants' activities may have 
upon interstate commerce is a question of fact not normally susceptible of determination without 
scrutiny of the proof that may be offered” and held that the complaint alleged a sufficient impact 
on interstate commerce.  (Bunker Ramo Corp. v. United Business Forms, Inc. (7th Cir. 1983) 713 
F.2d 1272, 1282 (emphasis added).)    
 
 How little the impact on interstate commerce may really be is unclear  (Cf. Musick v. 
Burke (9th Cir. 1990) 913 F.2d 1390, 1398 (“there remains undiminished authority in the Ninth 
Circuit that a showing of purchase of supplies and equipment from out of state, by itself, is 
insufficient to identify a relevant aspect of interstate commerce substantially affected by an 
antitrust defendant's business activities”) with Virden v. Graphics One (C.D. Cal. 1985) 623 F. 
Supp. 1417, 1431-1432) (“federal courts in other jurisdictions have held that the mere receipt or 
use by a RICO enterprise of goods shipped interstate is enough to satisfy this requirement”).   
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However, the court has now been cited, or has discovered, cases with fairly little impact 
on interstate commerce.  (See United States v. Juvenile Male (9th Cir. 1997) 118 F.3d 1344, 
1348-1350 (impact on interstate commerce was sufficient where the gun that a gang member 
used to commit robbery and murder was transported in interstate commerce, most of the items 
purchased and sold by the victimized store were acquired through interstate commerce, part of 
the store’s profits were paid out of state, and the store was forced to close for several days 
because of the crime; the court considered both the activities of the enterprise and the effect of 
the act on the victim in deciding whether the connection to interstate commerce was sufficient 
and it stated the connection to interstate commerce is sufficient as long as the individual impact 
of each predicate act on interstate commerce is de minimis ); (United States v. Atcheson (9th Cir. 
1996) 94 F.3d 1237, 1243 (impact on interstate commerce was sufficient where the defendants 
obtained, or attempted to obtain, credit or ATM cards from each of the victims and many such 
cards were from out-of-state financial institutions  (analyzing the Hobbs Act rather than RICO, 
but Juvenile Male states the interstate connection required under both is the same (Juvenile 
Male, supra, at 1348)) (Atcheson states, “To establish a de minimis effect on interstate 
commerce, the Government need not show that a defendant's acts actually affected interstate 
commerce. . . . Rather, the jurisdictional requirement is satisfied ‘by proof of [a probable or 
potential impact.’”); United States v. Rone (9th Cir. 1979) 598 F.2d 564, 573, holding proper a 
jury instruction that said the impact on interstate commerce would be sufficient if the jury found 
that the business of a murder-for-hire victim bought steel out of state).)  Given these authorities 
and defendants’ burden of persuasion on this demurrer, the court declines to rule at the 
pleading stage that the SAC insufficiently alleges the enterprise’s impact on interstate 
commerce. 
 
 In conclusion, the court sustains the demurrer to the first three causes of action because 
they fail sufficiently to allege (a) an enterprise that was distinct from the four persons that 
committed the alleged racketeering activity and (b) a pattern of racketeering activity.  Leave to 
amend is granted.   
 
 Fourth Cause of Action, Deceit: 
 
 The SAC alleges that all of the actions defendants took to commit violations of RICO 
constitute “numerous deceitful illegal acts” and that “significantly, Defendants suppressed facts . 
. . about the fraudulent tax and bank filings . . .” (¶ 53.)  It then focuses just on defendants’ 
dealings with Union Bank, alleging that Union Bank relied on defendants’ deceit by replacing 
Joseph with Silvio on the SMG bank account signature card, that defendants intended to and 
did defraud Union Bank, and that this deprived plaintiff, Joseph, of SMG distributions in excess 
of $250,000.  (¶ 53.)  By these actions, plaintiff has been deprived of his interests in the 
Garaventa Entities and the Garaventa Family Marital Trust, and the value of those interests 
have been substantially reduced.  (¶ 54.) 
 
 Deceit may include both misrepresentation and suppression of a fact.  (CC § 1710.)  It 
must be pleaded with specificity.  (Committee on Children’s Television, Inc. v. General Foods 
Corp. (1983) 35 Cal.3d 197, 216; Wilhelm v. Pray (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 1324, 1331; Stansfield 
v. Starkey (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 59, 74.)   
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The elements of a claim for deceit are:  (1) misrepresentation (false representation, 
concealment, or nondisclosure); (2) knowledge of falsity (scienter); (3) intent to defraud (i.e., to 
induce reliance); (4) justifiable reliance; and (5) resulting damage.  (Molko v. Holy Spirit Assn. 
(1988) 46 Cal.3d 1092, 1108.) 
 
 The problems with this cause of action include the following.  First, defendants are 
entitled to a pleading that specifies exactly which of the tortious activities listed actually 
constitutes the tort of deceit as opposed to some other wrongdoing.  The long list of allegations 
of wrongdoing that plaintiff recites elsewhere in the complaint to support the RICO cause of 
action includes more than just deceit.  The threat to plaintiff’s family does not constitute deceit.  
Nor does Louisa’s action to terminate plaintiff’s role as CEO of the Garaventa Entities.  If the 
claimed deceit is only the tax and bank fraud, plaintiff should say so directly.  The specificity the 
court is demanding is required so defendants will know the scope of their initial burden on any 
subsequent motion for summary adjudication.   
 
 Second, if the tax and bank fraud constitute misrepresentations, those 
misrepresentations are directed at entities other than Joseph, i.e., the Internal Revenue Service 
and Union Bank.  “A person uttering misrepresentations is liable only to those in whom he 
intended to induce reliance.”  (Bell v. Renaldo (1975) 51 Cal.App.3d 779, 781; see also Walters 
v. Marler (1978) 83 Cal.App.3d 1, 19.)  While a misrepresentation made to one person can 
sometimes give rise to cause of action for deceit in another (see Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. 
(1992) 3 Cal. 4th 370), neither the SAC nor the Opposition sufficiently explain how that result is 
justified here.  The SAC does not allege that, by his fraud, Silvio intended plaintiff to take any 
action or that plaintiff, in fact, took any.  (See below.)   
 
 Third, if the tax and bank fraud are alleged as the basis for a claim for suppression of 
facts, the SAC fails to allege that anyone other than Louisa owed Joseph a duty of disclosure.  
She is the trustee of the Trust, and the Trust is the majority owner of the Garaventa Entities.  
Walter II, Walter II, and Silvio are not.   
 
 Fourth, the SAC fails to allege actionable reliance on the tax or bank fraud by plaintiff.  
The only thing that plaintiff alleges he would have done differently had he known of these frauds 
as they were being committed is that he would have tried to stop them.  He does not allege that 
he entered or failed to enter a transaction because of them.  When the only damage caused by 
a fraud is a delayed attempt to redress it, the fraud is not actionable, it just delays accrual of the 
cause of action. Generally, a defendant has a duty not to commit fraud.  He does not have a 
duty, on pain of damages, to disclose fraud he has committed.  An actionable fraud claim is 
generally “You committed fraud,” not “You committed fraud by not telling me you committed 
fraud.”  (See LiMandri v. Judkins (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 326, 338.) 
 
 Fifth, damages are problematic.  As to the tax fraud, someone may have committed 
conversion by taking $1 million of Mary’s jewelry that he or she was not entitled to, but how 
Joseph was damaged by Louisa’s lie to the IRS about it is unclear.  As to Union Bank, at best, 
SMG has been damaged, not Joseph.  Joseph never specifically alleges that when Silvio wrote 
the check for $1 million from SMG to Louisa, Joseph was entitled to one quarter of that sum, 
$250,000, as an immediate distribution.  Even SMG has not lost any money yet.  The $1 million 
has been deposited into court in an interpleader action.   



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   08/13/21 

 
 

- 10 - 

 
 The demurrer to the Fourth Cause of Action is sustained, with leave to amend. 
 

Fifth Cause of Action, Breach of Fiduciary Duty: 
 
This cause of action alleges that all defendants are liable to plaintiff for breach of 

fiduciary duty.  Louisa is liable because she is the trustee of the Trust and manager of the 
companies in which plaintiff has an interest.  (¶ 57.a., b.)  Walter II, Walter III, and Silvio are 
liable because they aided and abetted Louisa in breaching her fiduciary duties.  (¶ 57. c.) 
 

A person may be liable for aiding and abetting the commission of an intentional tort if the 
person “(a) knows the other's conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial 
assistance or encouragement to the other to so act or (b) gives substantial assistance to the 
other in accomplishing a tortious result and the person's own conduct, separately considered, 
constitutes a breach of duty to the third person.” (Casey v. U.S. Bank National Association 
(2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1138, 1144.)   

 
The breaches of fiduciary duty by Louisa that the other defendants are alleged to have 

aided and abetted are:  (1) her profiting personally as Trustee; (2) her not acting neutrally as 
Trustee and her terminating Joseph from his position as CEO of the Garaventa Entities; (3) her 
refusal to distribute assets, thus perpetuating rather than terminating the Trust so she can 
continue to earn trustee’s fees; (4) her paying herself more than $1 million in Trustee’s fees; and 
(5) her failing to disclose she tried to purchase the Piper’s Patch property.  (¶ 58.)   

 
The SAC alleges the legal conclusion that each defendant aided and abetted these 

alleged breaches of fiduciary duty, but fails to allege either generally or with specific facts that 
each defendant knew of the conduct when it was occurring and that the conduct constituted a 
breach of duty; that each defendant provided substantial assistance or encouragement to the 
occurrence of the breach; or that each defendant gave substantial assistance to Louisa and 
each defendant’s conduct was itself a breach of duty to Joseph.  Plaintiff relies on paragraph 29 
to allege this, but that paragraph is specific to the RICO cause of action.  

 
Further, it is hard to see how Joseph was damaged by the alleged breach regarding the 

Piper’s Patch property because he was, in fact, able to purchase that property.  The main 
purpose of the Piper’s Patch allegations seem to be to show an additional reason why relations 
between Louisa and plaintiff soured and she replaced him as CEO.  Because she controlled the 
majority interest in the Garaventa Entities through the Trust’s 70% ownership interest, it is also 
not clear what “assistance” she needed or got in terminating Joseph as CEO. 

 
It is not clear whether the inclusion of Silvio in this cause of action is a breach of the 

order that Judge Treat made in connection with the parties’ stipulation for an amendment to the 
complaint.  That order, which was in reality simply a lack of disagreement with the parties’ 
stipulation, stated that no new causes of action could be stated.  But all that apparently occurred 
here is that an existing cause of action was expanded to include a new defendant.   (See 
Bernson v. Browning-Ferris Industries (1994) 7 Cal.4th 926, 932 (identity of the defendant is not 
part of the cause of action).) 
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In any event, plaintiff could have added Silvio by a motion under CCP § 473.  The 
declines to rule that the demurrer should be sustained with regard to Silvio just because Judge 
Treat’s order did not permit plaintiff to add any new causes of action. 

 
The demurrer to the Fifth Cause of Action is sustained as to all defendants except 

Louisa, with leave to amend. 
 
 Sixth Cause of Action, Constructive Fraud:  
 
 This cause of action is largely the same as the Fourth Cause of Action, except it alleges 
that all defendants owed plaintiff a fiduciary duty, and thus a duty of disclosure, based on their 
relationship with him.  (¶ 62.)   
 
 The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained with leave to amend for the same 
reasons as discussed above regarding the Fourth Cause of Action.  Also, the allegation that all 
defendants owed Joseph a fiduciary duty based on their relationship with him is a legal 
conclusion not supported by the factual allegations of the SAC.  Louisa owed Joseph a fiduciary 
duty as the Trustee of the Trust.  The other defendants were, like Joseph, mere beneficiaries of 
the Trust and minority owners of the Garaventa Entities, owning the same amount of the 
Garaventa Entities that Joseph did. 
 
 Seventh Cause of Action, Unjust Enrichment: 
 
 This cause of action alleges that it would be unjust for defendants to retain monies 
diverted from the Trust and the Garaventa Entities, but also uses the language of damages, to 
wit, that defendants misappropriated plaintiff’s monies and property in the millions of dollars, 
violated securities law, reduced the value of plaintiff’s interest in the Trust and the Garaventa 
Entities, and caused plaintiff economic damage.  (¶ 69.)  It then concludes with the allegation 
that plaintiff is owed restitution, including the $250,000 in funds he expected to receive from 
SMG, if the bank fraud had not occurred. 
 
 Courts are split concerning whether “unjust enrichment” is a cause of action or a remedy, 
but that is not the court’s major concern.  Its concern is to have a tight enough pleading to make 
it easy to determine whether defendants have met their initial burden on any subsequent motion 
for summary adjudication.  Plaintiff should pare back this cause of action to allege what money 
each defendant is holding that justly belongs to plaintiff.  If it is only $250,000 of the funds from 
the frozen $1 million from the SMG bank account, then plaintiff should say so.  If it is more than 
that, then plaintiff should say that.  But unjust enrichment is not a catchall cause of action to be 
used as an alternative to a claim for damages. 
 
 The court does not see how “defendants,” collectively, have been enriched by (1) legal 
fees not paid to them but to Walter III’s law firm, (2) of $250,000 from the Union Bank account 
when all of the $1 million at issue there is held by the court and not by defendants, or (3) of the 
full value of $1 million in misappropriated jewelry, when plaintiff was just one of five beneficiaries 
of the Trust and the SAC does not allege that plaintiff was to be the sole Trust beneficiary 
entitled to the jewelry. 
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 The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend.  
 
 Eighth Cause of Action, Accounting: 
 
 This cause of action alleges that defendants have failed to account for financial matters 
affecting the financial affairs of plaintiff and his interest in the Garaventa Entities.  (“Garaventa 
Entities” is defined in footnote 2 of the SAC.  It does not include SMG or the Trust.)  The SAC 
goes on to allege that plaintiff seeks an accounting of all monetary and financial activities 
engaged in by Defendants, including the threats in the anonymous letter, termination of 
plaintiffs’ role as CEO of the Garaventa Entities, fraud on the IRS and Union Bank regarding $1 
million each, and other conduct not typically associated with an action for an accounting.  (¶ 73.) 
 

A cause of action for an accounting requires a showing that a 
relationship exists between the plaintiff and defendant that 
requires an accounting, and that some balance is due the plaintiff 
that can only be ascertained by an accounting. . . .  
 
An action for accounting is not available where the plaintiff alleges 
the right to recover a sum certain or a sum that can be made 
certain by calculation. . . .  
 
. . . 
 
[A] fiduciary relationship between the parties is not required to 
state a cause of action for accounting. All that is required is that 
some relationship exists that requires an accounting. . . . The right 
to an accounting can arise from the possession by the defendant 
of money or property which, because of the defendant's 
relationship with the plaintiff, the defendant is obliged to surrender. 
. . .  
 
[T]he nature of a cause of action in accounting is unique in that it 
is a means of discovery. An accounting is a “species of disclosure, 
predicated upon the plaintiff's legal inability to determine how 
much money, if any, is due.” . . . Thus, the purpose of the 
accounting is, in part, to discover what, if any, sums are owed to 
the plaintiff, and an accounting may be used as a discovery 
device. . . Teselle v. McLoughlin (2009) 173 Cal. App. 4th 156, 
179-180.) 

 
 Defendants argue the SAC does not allege a relationship that would require an 
accounting.  They further argue that to the extent plaintiff seeks an accounting regarding the 
Trust, such an action must be filed in the Probate Court. 
 
 In his Opposition, plaintiff admits he wants to allege a cause of action for an accounting 
to use as a discovery tool. 
 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   07 
HEARING DATE:   08/13/21 

 
 

- 13 - 

 The court is not persuaded that an action for accounting is warranted here, except 
possibly against Louisa as the trustee of the Trust.  But if that is the basis for the claim, it 
appears the claim must be filed in the Probate Court.  Plaintiff knows how much jewelry and how 
much in funds from Union Bank was taken, so he does not need an accounting to determine 
those amounts.  Plaintiff has not alleged facts that show each defendant even has the power to 
provide an accounting of income and disbursements of the Garaventa Entities.  The threats to 
plaintiff and his family in the anonymous letter is not a “financial matter” and involves no 
retention or transfer of money.   
 
 Further, plaintiff has not alleged a relationship between himself and all the other 
defendants regarding the Garaventa Entities or SMG that would require those defendants to 
account to him for the financial transactions of the entities.  The SAC seems to be alleging that 
an enterprise that exists, if at all, only for purposes of RICO owes him an accounting of all its 
disparate activities.  If the Garaventa Entities owe plaintiff money, then the proper defendant in 
an action for an accounting would appear to be those corporations; if SMG, then that LLC; and if 
the Trust, then Louisa as trustee.  To use the fiction of a RICO enterprise to obtain an 
accounting from the persons committing the racketeering activities seems a bridge too far when 
there are other actual legal entities that have, and may owe plaintiff, the financial information he 
seeks. 
 
 The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained.  While the court doubts that a 
successful amendment is possible, it grants leave to amend. 
 

Ninth Cause of Action, Negligence: 
 
This negligence cause of action is based on an alleged duty on defendants’ part to act in 

the best interests of plaintiff.  (¶ 77.) 
 
However, “[a]s a rule, one has no duty to come to the aid of another. A person who has 

not created a peril is not liable in tort merely for failure to take affirmative action to assist or 
protect another unless there is some relationship between them which gives rise to a duty to 
act.” (Williams v. State of California (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18, 23.)  The SAC fails to allege facts 
showing the existence of such a relationship between plaintiff and any of the defendants except 
Louisa in her role as trustee of the Trust.  The SAC never really alleges who is currently the 
CEO of the Garaventa Entities or the managing member of SMG Group, LLC, and the 
Opposition never argues law from the Corporations Code about the duties owed by such 
persons to a person holding the interests in those entities that plaintiff does.  A negligence 
cause of action may be pleaded generally, but there are limits.  (Berkley v. Dowds (2007) 152 
Cal. App. 4th 518, 527.) It must still allege facts demonstrating that there is a duty.  (Vescovo v. 
New Way Enterprises, Ltd. (1976) 60 Cal.App.3d 582, 589.)  It is not clear why Walter II, Walter 
III, or Silvio owed a plaintiff a duty to “act in [plaintiff’s] best interests.”  (¶ 77.)   
 
 The demurrer to the Ninth Cause of Action is sustained, with leave to amend. 
 
 Tenth Cause of Action, Violation of Business and Professions Code section 
17200:  
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 Defendants argue this claim fails to state a cause of action because the SAC fails to 
allege that defendants are involved in an unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practice.  (That 
v. Alders Maintenance Assn. (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 1419, 1426-1427 (homeowner’s 
association held not to be a business within the context of a dispute with  
homeowners attempting to recall its board of directors; “[A homeowner’s] association does not 
participate as a business in the commercial market, much less compete in it.”) 
 
 Plaintiff counter that this cause of action is proper because commercial activity is 
“implicated” in this dispute.  (Opp. at 20:14.)   
 
 The court disagrees that is sufficient.  Plaintiff cites no case holding that a person may 
sue individuals not running a business who injure him economically because commercial activity 
is somehow implicated in the dispute.   
 

The SAC makes clear that, at root, this is a family dispute in which defendants seek to 
gain more of the Trust Assets and give plaintiff less by taking assets and pressuring and 
intimidating him economically and otherwise.  That some of the Trust assets are businesses is 
incidental.  Plaintiff is not suing a business under section 17200.  He is not suing the RICO 
enterprise under section 17200.  He is suing four individual family members under section 
17200. 
 
 Plaintiff also argues that section 17200 applies because Louisa terminated plaintiff as 
CEO of the Garaventa Entities.  That is not a matter concerning unfair competition, however, but 
an employment or corporate governance dispute.  The line between the two would be blurred if 
this claim were permitted. 
 
 Finally, bank and wire fraud would constitute conduct actionable under section 17200 if it 
were conduct engaged in by a business to harm a competitor or a customer.  But defendants 
are not a business and plaintiff is not a business competitor or a customer of defendants’ 
“business.” 
 
 The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained.  While the court doubts that a 
successful amendment is possible, it grants leave to amend. 
 
 Eleventh Cause of Action, IIED: 
 
 The Eleventh Cause of Action alleges that defendants are liable for intentional infliction 
of emotional distress for sending the threatening letter. 
 
 Defendants argue that even if the SAC alleges they are responsible for it, the letter is not 
extreme and outrageous.  They cite Cochran v. Cochran (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 488.  There, 
Johnnie L. Cochran, Jr. left a telephone message on the voicemail of a son he had by a woman 
he had allegedly promised to support for life if she quit her job.  The mother was suing him for 
breach of that Marvin agreement.  The voicemail stated that Johnnie L. Cochran would like to 
book the mother of the child a ticket on an airplane that was well-known at the time to have 
recently crashed.  The court analyzed the “extreme and outrageous” element at length, citing 
cases that, on demurrer, decided whether that element was present.   
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The court ultimately concluded the threat at issue there was of the type that cases have 

said people sometimes have to endure and was not an actionable death threat.  (Id. at 497.)  
“To the extent the message which respondent allegedly left on his son's answering machine can 
be characterized as a threat, its meaning is hidden and lacking in immediacy.  It was also made 
at least 16 months after the television appearance by appellants which was the alleged catalyst 
of respondent's anger with them.”  (Id. at 498.)   Further, “parties to an intimate relationship gone 
bad were now feuding. Those feuds are often accompanied by an exchange of hostile 
unpleasantries which are intended to sting whoever sits at the delivery end. While the pain 
inflicted might be real, the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress was never intended to 
remove all such barbs.”  (Ibid.)  
 

Finally, the court said,  
 

There is no indication that respondent ever took any steps to 
either carry out his alleged threat or, at the least, make the threat 
appear more real. Without more, the "Value Jet" message which 
respondent allegedly left is little more than the release of steam 
from the pressure cooker of the parties' ill will. As such, it is 
precisely what the Restatement had in mind when it excluded 
"mere insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty oppressions, 
or other trivialities" from the tort and referred to the need for a 
safety valve "through which irascible tempers may blow off 
relatively harmless steam." (Rest.2d Torts, § 46, com. d, p. 73.)  
(Ibid.) 
 

 Here, the facts alleged in the SAC concerning the letter are the following.  The parties 
had an ongoing dispute regarding ownership of the 1,000-acre Piper’s Patch property since 
sometime in or after 2016, when plaintiff offered to purchase it.  (¶ 12, 14.)  Plaintiff was 
eventually able to purchase that property in January 2019, but not without “acquiring the 
vengeful wrath of Defendants.”  (¶ 14-16.)  In March 2019, the caretaker at the Piper’s Patch 
property heard gun shots and assumed it was some local kids shooting at signs in the area.  It 
was later discovered that bullets hit a trailer on a 100-acre parcel that had been on or adjacent 
to the 1,000-acre property.  Plaintiff had sold the 100-acre parcel to Louisa and Walter II in 
approximately 2016.  (¶ 13, 18.)   
 
 Seven months later, in October 2019, plaintiff received an “anonymous” letter that 
claimed to be written on behalf of Maria Giacomelli and her family regarding their property 
adjacent to Piper’s Patch.  The letter threatened “life-changing ramifications” if certain demands 
were not met.  Plaintiff has failed to allege what the demands were or to attach the letter to the 
SAC.  The letter said the sender assumed plaintiff wanted to keep his children safe and 
protected and that the repercussions of causing harm to the Giacomelli family would not be 
pleasant.  “You can protect and keep your family safe by keeping all others safe and protected 
as well.”  (¶ 19 (emphasis added).)  The SAC does not allege that anything threatening or 
dangerous occurred after the letter. 
 
 The court cannot yet conclude whether the letter was an actionable death threat as the 
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court concluded in Kiseskey v. Carpenters' Trust for So. California (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 222 or 
was not, as the court concluded in Cochran.  But, without more, this case seems more like 
Cochran and like Kiseskey.  (In Kiseskey, the plaintiff alleged that various union officials phoned 
him on different occasions and said: " 'You are a no good son of a bitch and if you don't resign 
the agreement and get in set with the union, you'll be put in the hospital,' " " 'Rejoin the union or 
you might not live to regret it,' " and " 'Since you do not seem to be concerned about your safety 
and well-being, maybe you will be concerned about the well-being of your wife and children.'”) 
 
  For one thing, a fair reading of the allegations of the SAC is that guns were fired near the 
Piper’s Patch property owned by plaintiff, but only struck a trailer on the 100-acre parcel he had 
sold to some of the defendants, and that Giacomelli wrote the letter because she thought the 
gunshots were directed at her or her property.  So the threat was not imminent or unconditional.  
Plaintiff could avoid repercussions if he would just not shoot at her or her property.  For another, 
neighbor disputes are just as prone as relationship disputes to result in “spleen-venting” 
(Cochran, supra, at 499), and here, as in Cochran, the threat came months after the 
precipitating event, it is vague and conditional, and no further action was taken on it after it was 
sent. 
 
 The demurrer to this cause of action is sustained with leave to amend.  If plaintiff 
chooses to amend, he shall attach a copy of the letter to the amended complaint, so the court 
can review its actual contents rather than just plaintiff’s interpretation of them.  Plaintiff can still 
plead his interpretation if the letter is ambiguous.  (See SC Manufactured Homes, Inc. v. Liebert 
(2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 68, 83.)  
 
 The demurrer of Walter Binswanger  
 
 Walter III argues that even if the demurrer is overruled as to other defendants it should 
be sustained as to him because there are no charging allegations against him. 
 
 Plaintiff argues there are such allegations.  Walter III is a defendant under the RICO 
claim and one of the associates in the enterprise. 
 
 Again, the RICO claims are statutory.  They must be pleaded with particularity.  Walter III 
is entitled to know what racketeering activities he is claimed to have personally committed or 
why he is being named in the RICO claims other than because of the conclusory statement that 
he was one of the associates in fact with the other defendants. 
 
 Further, if plaintiff wishes to pursue Walter III under any of the other causes of action, 
plaintiff needs to make clearer the basis for doing so. 
 
If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
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 2.  TIME:  10:15   CASE#: MSC18-01289 
CASE NAME: COLVIS VS. GARAVENTA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PLAINTIFFS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT FILED BY SILVIO GARAVENTA, WALTER BINSWANGER II , 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendants seek to strike paragraphs 18-23 of the SAC, i.e., (1) the allegation that 

defendants misappropriated $1 million in Mary’s jewelry; (2) the allegation that they filed a 

fraudulent 706 fax form with the IRS after Mary died; and (3) the allegations about the gun shots 

heard at Piper’s Patch and the anonymous letter.  The court denies the motion to strike those 

paragraphs, but does order that those allegations not be repeated or referred to in other 

paragraphs of the complaint where plaintiff has not argued they are relevant. 

 A defendant may move to strike any matter in a complaint that is “irrelevant, false, or 
improper.”  (CCP § 436.)   Among defendants’ reasons for striking these matters is that the 
matters are “highly prejudicial” and “completely baseless.”  (Opening Brief at 21:4-5.)   But the 
court does not determine at the pleading stage whether an allegation is baseless.  To the 
contrary, it assumes the matter is true.  And a court does not decide the ultimate admissibility of 
evidence at trial on a motion to strike and does not decide a motion to strike based on Evidence 
Code section 352-type considerations, such as whether allegations are too prejudicial. 
 
 In defending the matter defendants ask to strike, plaintiff does not claim it is relevant or 
proper as to all claims.  He claims the jewelry and fraudulent tax form claims are relevant to the 
RICO claims and the gun shots and threatening letter are relevant to the IIED claim.  Therefore, 
when the SAC is amended in response to the ruling on the demurrer, plaintiff should restrict 
those allegations to the claims as to which plaintiff argues they are relevant.  Some of the places 
where he failed to do so are paragraphs 53, 62, 64, 73, and 80. 
 
If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02309 
CASE NAME: MCKEAN/DEMATTEI VS DE MARTINI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR REPORT OF SALE & CONFIRM SALE OF 
PROPERTY FILED BY PAMELA R. REGATUSO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to confirm the sale is granted, subject to any persons who are not objectors and who 
may appear at 9 a.m and request to be heard. 
 
The attorney has been involved in the matter since May 2020 and everyone knew about that. 
There is no basis to withhold fees, although the better practice is to apply in advance. The fees 
are reasonable and are granted. 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00329 
CASE NAME: M.F. VS CLAYTON VALLEY CHARTER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended CROSS COMPLAINT of CLAYTON 
VALLEY CHARTER HIGH SCHOOL FILED BY MT. DIABLO UNIFIED SCHOOL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The demurrer of cross-defendant Mt. Diablo Unified School District (the “District”) to the 

Second Amended Cross-Complaint (“SACC”) filed by Clayton Valley Charter High School 

(“CVCHS”) is sustained, with leave to amend.  CVCHS shall file and serve any amended cross-

complaint on or before August 27, 2021.  If CVCHS elects to amend, it shall file a redlined copy 

of any amended cross-complaint with its Opposition to any future demurrer so the court can 

track the changes.  

 Background 
 

The court wrote comprehensively about this case in its ruling on the previous demurrer.  
It quotes a small portion of that ruling to set the context for the current one. 
 

This case presents the issue whether a cross-defendant may 
continue to prosecute a cross-complaint for equitable indemnity 
against an alleged joint tortfeasor whose demurrer to the plaintiff’s 
complaint was sustained without leave to amend.  Under the 
circumstances of this case, the court concludes the answer is yes. 
 
. . . 
 
[T]he court agrees that CVCHS has failed to state a cause of 
action for total indemnity.  And it agrees that CVCHS needs to 
plead the statutes that entitle it to sue the District for partial 
equitable indemnity.  But it disagrees that the court’s prior order 
dismissing plaintiff’s case against the District bars a claim for 
equitable indemnity or that such a claim is barred by res judicata 
or collateral estoppel.  Further, it concludes that the CVCHS will 
have adequately pleaded a basis for the District to be a joint 
tortfeasor under Government Code section 835 and 815.2 if 
CVCHS amends its Cross-Complaint to mention those statutes. 

 
 The District now demurs again. 
 
 Discussion 
 
 To the extent that the District’s demurrer reiterates arguments that the court rejected last 
time (e.g. regarding res judicata, collateral estoppel, and principles of indemnity), the court’s 
rulings are unchanged.  The court will not repeat the prior ruling.  It incorporates that ruling by 
this reference. 
 
 However, the District raises new arguments, concerning the sufficiency of the section 
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815.2 and the section 835 claims, and the court must evaluate these for the first time.  In 
evaluating these claims it is key to bear in mind that CVCHS has pleaded three things that 
plaintiff did not:  (1) a claim under section 815.2 and not just one under section 835; (2) that the 
District created the dangerous condition, not that it just had actual or constructive knowledge of 
the condition after its creation but before the incident; and (3) that the District continued to 
control the condition even after CVCHS took over operations at the campus in 2012.  (See prior 
ruling quoted in Opening Memorandum at 8:20-9:3; cf. SACC, ¶¶ 8, 10-12, 19.)    
 

1. Section 815.2. 
 

In pertinent section 815.2 states, “A public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by 
an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the 
act or omission would, apart from this section, have given rise to a cause of action against that 
employee or his personal representative.”  In short, it makes a public entity vicariously liable for 
the torts of its employees.   

 
In an attempt to allege such liability, the SACC alleges plaintiff filed a lawsuit alleging 

that another student, B.H., sexually assaulted her in a fenced-in HVAC enclosure on the 
grounds of CVCHS.  The enclosure was unreasonably dangerous because it was unlocked, 
hidden from its surroundings, and not covered by security cameras.  In addition, it was known 
for years to be an area where students would hide and commit sexual or unlawful activities.  
(SACC, ¶ 15.) If the District was aware of that, it did not communicate that knowledge when 
CVCHS took over the school in 2012.  (¶ 8, 17.)  Further, the District placed slats in the fence 
and planted trees and bushes nearby, so it was difficult to see into the enclosure.  (¶ 8.)   

 
Plaintiff alleges that B.H. was known to sexually harass female students and that on one 

prior occasion, B.H. engaged in sexual conduct directed at a minor that required the intervention 
of Child Protective Services. If that is true and the District was aware of it, the District never 
forwarded this information to CVCHS.  (¶ 16.)  If that incident actually occurred, it did so while 
B.H. was in one of the District’s middle schools, before he came to CVCHS as a freshman.  (¶ 
17.)   

 
The SACC then concludes that the District is liable for equitable indemnity under section 

815.2 because its employees: (1) negligently created the dangerous condition; (2) failed to 
ensure the HVAC enclosure was locked after they performed maintenance that they had the 
obligation to perform even after CVCHS took over the school in 2012; (3) failed to place a 
security camera that would cover that area; (4) failed to notify CVCHS of the improper use that 
students made of the enclosure; and (5) failed to notify CVCHS of B.H’.s improper sexual 
behavior before he entered high school.  (¶ 8, 19.)   

 
Some of these alleged bases for a section 815.2 claim appear to be problematic.  The 

employees’ creation of the dangerous condition (basis (1)) and the lack of security cameras 
(basis (3)) are problematic because the entity’s direct liability for creating the dangerous 
condition is governed solely by section 835 and the employee’s by sections 840-840.6.  (See 
Van Kempen v. Hayward Area Park Etc. Dist. (1972) 23 Cal.App.3d 822. 825.)  A plaintiff may 
not avoid the requirements of sections 835 and 840.2 by pleading the claim instead as one 
under section 815.2.  (Ibid.)   
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The failure to notify CVCHS of B.H.’s prior improper sexual behavior (basis (5)) is 

problematic for two reasons.  First, CVCHS fails to cite a case that imposes liability on a private 
school employee for failing to report such conduct to a new school.  The cases that CVCHS cite 
on this point are all distinguishable.  In Randi W. v. Muroc Joint Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 
Cal.4th 1066, the court held that the school district and its officers could be liable for statements 
they made in a letter of recommendation to a placement service and therefore to prospective 
employers without disclosing information they knew about prior charges or complaints of sexual 
misconduct.  However, the court permitted liability only on a negligent misrepresentation or 
fraud theory because, while they had no duty to speak, the school personnel did have a duty to 
provide accurate and complete information if they provided any information at all.  The liability 
that CVCHS seeks to impose here is liability for negligence in failing to provide any information 
at all about B.H. to any new school. 

 
In Regents of University of California v. Superior Court (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 890, a 

college student was injured by another student that the public entity knew was being treated for 
mental illness.  In a prior California Supreme court opinion in the same case, the high court 
ruled that “colleges generally owe a duty to use reasonable care to protect their students from 
foreseeable acts of violence in the classroom or during curricular activities” based on the special 
relationship that exists between them and their students.  (Regents of University of California v. 
Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 607, 627.)  In the subsequent appellate court case, the court 
held there were triable issues whether defendants had breached this duty.  Here, however, no 
education provider/student relationship exists between the District and either plaintiff or B.H. 
Neither of them were its students.   

 
Finally, in Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425, 431, 439, 

the court held that when a therapist determines, or should determine, that his patient presents a 
serious danger of violence to another, he incurs an obligation to use reasonable care to protect 
the intended victim against such danger.  However, Tarasoff was later narrowed by statute, Civil 
Code section 43.92, which provides there is liability of a psychotherapist in this situation only if 
“the patient has communicated to the psychotherapist a serious threat of physical violence 
against a reasonably identifiable victim or victims.”  Assuming that Tarasoff has general 
relevance to the relationship of educator and student through the two Regents cases, again, the 
District was not B.H.’s educator when he was at CVCHS and presented a danger to plaintiff. 
 

The second reason that the claim for failing to advise CVCHS of B.H.’s prior issues 
(basis (5)) is problematic is that CVCHS fails to allege directly and unconditionally (even if  it can 
do this only on information and belief) that the District knew of B.H’s prior problems.   

 
The claim that the District failed to advise CVCHS about students’ misuse of the HVAC 

area (basis (4)) might state a claim, but additional facts would be needed, and the District would 
still need to have the opportunity to present additional legal briefing on this point on another 
demurrer.  The District might have gained such knowledge at two points:  before 2012, when it 
ran the school at that campus; or afterwards, when it continued to maintain the HVAC area, and 
might have discovered evidence of student usage of the site (e.g., seeing students there or 
seeing discarded cigarette butts or  alcoholic beverage containers).  A private landowner may 
have a duty to warn a new tenant of latent dangers (see Hanson v. Luft (1962) 58 Cal.2d 443, 
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445) or a duty to correct, or to warn an existing tenant of, dangerous conditions in common 
areas retained under the landowner’s control.  (See CACI 1006.)  The relationship of invitor and 
invitee or subinvitee can be a special relationship that imposes a duty to protect and to remedy 
or warn of dangerous conditions.  (See Peterson v. San Francisco Community College Dist. 
(1984) 36 Cal.3d 799, 807.)  The parties have not briefed on this demurrer whether any of this 
shows that if the District’s employees were private persons they would have a duty to correct or 
warn CVCHS of the dangerous condition if the employees knew about it. 

 
However, the SACC fails to affirmatively and positively allege any of the facts necessary 

to establish such a claim.  It states the District’s knowledge of student misuse of the HVAC 
enclosure in conditional terms.  (See SACC at 6:14-16 (“If the District was aware [that the HVAC 
enclosure was a known spot for sexual activity by students] . . . the District did not inform 
[CVCHS] of this fact.”  That is insufficient in this case, where plaintiff no longer has a claim 
against the District and cannot be expected to prove the knowledge necessary to establish 
CVCHS’ indemnity claim based on this knowledge.  CVCHS will have to allege that the District 
knew about student misuse of the HVAC enclosure at the relevant times. 

 
Finally, the allegation that District employees failed to relock the enclosure after they 

performed maintenance in or on it after CVCHS began operations in 2012 (basis (2)) could 
support a section 815.2 claim.  The court refuses to rule on a demurer that this claim would 
merely be a “repackaged” section 835 claim.  It may later be established that the HVAC 
enclosure was a dangerous condition even when locked, and thus that the failure to relock it 
was an act of subsequent negligence that increased the risk of harm rather than the act that 
created the dangerous condition in the first place.  Whether that is really a separate claim could 
be revisited on a motion for summary judgment or at trial. 

 
The court disagrees with the District’s contention regarding section 815.2 liability that the 

plaintiff must plead and prove some statute other than section 815.2 that creates a duty on the 
part of the public employee.  Cases such as Peterson and the two Regents cases found a duty 
to protect based upon analysis of the common law doctrine of a special relationship.  (See 
Peterson, supra; Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th at 619-620 (“Because UCLA is a public entity, its 
exposure to tort liability is nominally defined by statute. . . . However, the Government Claims 
Act . . . provides that public employees are liable for their acts and omissions “to the same 
extent as a private person” (Gov. Code, § 820, subd. (a)), and public entity employers are 
vicariously liable for employees' negligent acts within the scope of their employment to the same 
extent as private employers (Gov. Code, § 815.2, subd. (a) . . . .) Because it is undisputed that 
all university employees here were acting within the scope of their employment, UCLA's 
potential liability therefore ‘turns on ordinary and general principles of tort law.’” (Emphasis 
added.))  Section 815.6 direct entity liability based on a mandatory duty imposed by some other 
enactment requires pleading and proof of the separate enactment (something other than Civil 
Code section 1714 (Eastburn v. Regional Fire Protection Authority (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1175, 
1183.)) Section 815.2 does not. 

 
The court sees no reason to engage in an extended discussion to show why any 

suggestion in Searcy v. Hemet Unified School Dist. (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 792 to the contrary is 
either dicta or incorrect.  Suffice it to say that any holding on this point in Searcy is limited to the 
facts of the case, which involved an off-campus dangerous condition.  (Id. at 804 (“In light of 
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California's statutory scheme of limited governmental liability, the special relationship doctrine 
can impose no greater duty of protection on school districts for off-school-grounds hazards than 
the Legislature has authorized by statute.”)  The dangerous condition here was on-campus. 

 
2. Section 835. 

 
Section 835 provides: 
 

[A] public entity is liable for injury caused by a dangerous condition of its 
property if the plaintiff establishes that the property was in a dangerous 
condition at the time of the injury, that the injury was proximately caused by 
the dangerous condition, that the dangerous condition created a reasonably 
foreseeable risk of the kind of injury which was incurred, and that either: 
 
(a) A negligent or wrongful act or omission of an employee of the public entity 

within the scope of his employment created the dangerous condition; or 
 
(b) The public entity had actual or constructive notice of the dangerous        

condition under Section 835.2 a sufficient time prior to the injury to have 
taken measures to protect against the dangerous condition. 

 
The SACC alleges that the District created the dangerous condition, so it need not allege 

that the District had actual or constructive notice of it. 
 
The District argues that the HVAC enclosure by itself is not a dangerous condition in the 

absence of actual or constructive knowledge that students were misusing it.  The court would 
put it differently.  Knowledge of prior misuse may be required for there to be a duty to protect or 
warn.  (See Peterson v. San Francisco Community College Dist. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 799, 812 
(college district could be liable for failing to trim foliage around a stairway in its parking lot in light 
of its knowledge of prior attacks on students on the stairway.)   “It is . . . clear that intervening 
criminal conduct cannot absolve the defendant of liability where as here the plaintiff alleges that 
defendants maintained the property in such a way so as to increase the risk of criminal activity.”  
(Ibid.)  CVCHS does allege that the District maintained the HVAC enclosure in such a way as to 
increase the risk of criminal conduct, and that allegation is bolstered by the fact that plaintiff’s 
complaint shows B.H. chose to take plaintiff to the enclosure for the assault, rather than 
committing it where he first encountered her.  But, as stated above, CVCHS fails to allege 
unconditionally that CVCHS knew of prior misuse of the area by students.   Therefore, the 
demurer to this cause of action must be sustained.   
 

The District also argues that the HVAC enclosure cannot constitute a dangerous 
condition unless there is some physical defect in it.  The court disagrees.  All that is required is 
some physical characteristic of public property that increases the risk of criminal activity.  
(Peterson, supra, 36 Cal.3d at 812.)  The characteristic can be physical deterioration, but it can 
also be the condition’s location or proximity to other property, or other factors.  (See Peterson v. 
San Francisco Community College Dist. supra (“the thick and untrimmed foliage and trees 
around the parking lot and stairway permitted the assailant to perpetrate his crime”; yet thick 
and untrimmed foliage cannot necessarily be characterized as a physical defect); Bonanno v. 
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Central Contra Costa Transit Authority (2003) 30 Cal.4th 139, 148 (placement of a bus stop not 
in itself dangerous could constitute a dangerous condition “because bus users, to reach the 
stop, must cross at [a] dangerous crosswalk”; a condition may be dangerous  because of the 
design or location of the improvement, the interrelationship of its structural or natural features, or 
the presence of latent hazards associated with its normal use); Cole v. Town of Los Gatos 
(2012) 205 Cal. App. 4th 749, 759-760,  (configuration of a road encouraged motorists to divert 
to an adjacent gravel area whose location and configuration encouraged people to park there); 
Warden v. City of Los Angeles (1975) 13 Cal.3d 297 (pipe that was not damaged or deteriorated 
held to constitute dangerous condition by virtue of its location near the surface of a bay); 
Rodriguez v. Inglewood Unified School Dist. (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 707,718  (“In recent years, 
case law reflects an abandonment of the concept of a ‘physical defect,’ . . .”)  

 
Finally, the District cites Bartell v. Palos Verdes Peninsula Sch. Dist. (1978) 83 

Cal.App.3d 492 for the proposition that “merely leaving a gate unlocked is not by itself a 
negligent act.”  (Reply Brief at 6:24.)  The court disagrees that this is what Bartell says or 
means.  In Bartell, the plaintiff was a 12-year-old who gained access after school hours to an 
elementary school playground through an unlocked gate or a hole in the fence and injured 
himself while being slung by a rope when he was on a skateboard.  (Id. at 496.)  The plaintiff 
alleged two theories pertinent here: dangerous condition of public property under section 835 
and “negligent failure to supervise and maintain the school grounds or notify parents the gates 
were not locked or the fence not repaired,” under section 815.2. 
 

The court held that that any unlocked gate could not constitute a dangerous condition 
because it did not constitute a “physical defect,” terminology that was later discredited in 
Rodriguez and undermined by the holdings of Peterson and Bonanno.  The court disagrees that 
Bartell defeats CVCHS’ ability to claim equitable indemnity against the District here based, in 
part, on an unlocked gate that, when combined with the other physical characteristics of the 
HVAC enclosure, increased the risk that B.H. would commit his crime.  (See Peterson, supra, 36 
Cal.3d at 812.)   
 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01429 
CASE NAME: MOORE VS CROWN CASTLE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLAINTIFFS 2ND 
AMENDED COMPLAIN FILED BY T-MOBILE WEST TOWER, LLC, CCTMO,LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendants’ Demurrer and Motion to Strike are continued to October 29, 2021. Plaintiff 

George E. Moore died intestate during the pendency of the hearing on Defendants’ demurrer 

and motion to strike. The 9/1/21 Further CMC is continued to December 20, 2021 at 8:30 a.m. in 

Dept. 07. 

 The parties stipulated to the substitution of Jeanne Gagnie as Plaintiff, in place of 

Decedent George Moore as his successor in interest, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 

377.31  The Court continued the hearing to this date, August 13, 2021 to allow Ms. Gagnie to 

file a verification to the complaint for quiet title. 
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 Subsequent to the hearing, Plaintiff filed a supplemental brief on August 3, 2021 

indicating George E. Moore’s heirs had discovered a subsequent Quitclaim Deed, dated August 

2, 1976, recorded at Book 7964, Page 631, recorded on August 4, 1976, Contra Costa County 

Records.  Dora J. Moore a/k/a Dora Jean Moore quitclaimed all of her right, title, and interest in 

and to the subject real property to George E. Moore.  Thus, Ms. Gagnie has no standing this to 

maintain this action and was incorrectly substituted in as successor-in-interest. Consequently, 

the Estate of George E. Moore must maintain this action. The probate of the estate is pending, 

Contra Costa Case No. PROMSP21-00672. 

 Plaintiff requested a stay of this matter until appointment of personal or executor for the 

Estate of George E. Moore and to proceed 30 days after the appointment.  On August 5, 2021, 

the probate court heard the Petition for Letters of Administration. Catherine Smith, Roger Dale-

Moore, and Susan Marchetti were appointed as administrators of estate. 

 As the letters of administrations have been issued, the stay is not required. The matter is 

continued to allow the estate administrators to determine how or whether to proceed.   

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01429 
CASE NAME: MOORE VS CROWN CASTLE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of GAGNIE FILED BY 
T-MOBILE WEST TOWER, LLC, CCTMO,LLC, CROWN CASTLE USA INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 5. 
  

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01650 
CASE NAME: PIPPINS VS WILLIAMS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SEVERANCE PUR CCP 1048 FILED BY JEREMY 
D WILLIAMS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Before the Court is a motion for severance of claims made by plaintiff Sandria Husband in the 
13th and 14th causes of action for recovery of a loan to defendant Jeremy Williams. For the 
reasons set forth, the motion is denied without prejudice to refiling at a later date. 

Mr. Williams filed his motion for severance of certain claims asserted in the Plaintiffs' Third 

Amended Complaint ("TAC") on June 16, 2021, approximately one week after Mr. Williams filed 

a motion to dismiss Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint based on Plaintiffs' failure to timely 

amend. On August 6, 2021, the Court denied the motion to dismiss and ordered the TAC filed.  

Code of Civil Procedure § 1048 provides in pertinent part, "The court, in furtherance of 

convenience or to avoid prejudice, or when separate trials will be conducive to expedition and 

economy, may order a separate trial of any cause of action . . . ." (Code Civ. Proc. § 1048(b).) 

Whether to sever causes of action or issues for trial is a matter in the court’s discretion. (Code of 
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Civil Procedure §1048(b); Downey Savings & Loan Assn. v. Ohio Casualty Ins. Co. (1987) 189 

Cal.App.3d 1072, 1086, superceded by statute on other grounds ["Whether there shall be a 

severance and separate trials on issues in a single action is a matter within the discretion of the 

trial court, whose ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion. 

[Citation omitted.]"]; Shade Foods, Inc. v. Innovative Products Sales & Marketing, Inc. (2000) 78 

Cal.App.4th 847, 911-912 [stating general rule that severance is in the discretion of the trial 

court].) 

At this stage in the case, the Court cannot determine whether severance of the claims of Ms. 

Husband against Mr. Williams in the 13th and 14th causes of action will promote or impede the 

convenient, expeditious, and economic resolution of the claims and the lawsuit, which are the 

goals of the severance provision of the statute. The pleadings are still not settled. No trial date 

has been set. A settlement conference is set for September 13, 2021 which may resolve some 

or all of the claims in the action. Even if the relief sought is properly before the Court on the 

merits in light of the timing of the motion in relation to the filing of the TAC, it is premature for the 

Court to order severance of these claims for trial as requested in the motion.  

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02379 
CASE NAME: PIMENTAL VS JONES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR VACATE OREDER OF DISMISSAL FILED BY 
RICHARD PIMENTAL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Denied. The motion is untimely. 
 
An application for relief must be filed within six months of the date the judgment, dismissal, or 

proceeding was taken. (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b).) The Clerk's entry of default is considered a 

proceeding and is the date from which the six-month deadline is measured. (Garcia v. Gallo 

(1959) 176 Cal.App.2d 658, 669 ["courts have interpreted the clerk's entry of default as a 

"proceeding" taken against the party, which marks the beginning of the period, even though the 

judgment on the default is not entered until later."].) (See also Weiss v. Blumencranc (1976) 61 

Cal.App.3d 536, 541 [same].) The motion must also be accompanied by a copy of the answer or 

other pleading proposed to be filed. (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b); Henderson v. Pacific Gas & 

Electric Co. (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 215, 225.)  

In addition, the motion must be served on the other parties to the action, in this case counsel for 

Plaintiff Eagle Bay. (Arambula v. Union Carbide Corp. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 333, 340-342 

("Arambula").) Failure to serve the motion for relief on counsel for the Plaintiff renders the 

motion defective. (Id. at 341, 342 [the "application for relief under the statute is deemed to be 

made upon filing in court of a notice of motion and service of the notice of motion on the adverse 

party." (Italics in original.)].) In Arambula, supra, 128 Cal.App.4th 333, the Court held that 

although the application for relief from default was timely filed within the six-month deadline of 

Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b), the moving party's failure to serve the motion until after the 

six-month deadline expired deprived the Court of jurisdiction to grant relief. (Id. at 341, 342.)  
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This motion was served outside of that deadline and the court has no jurisdiction to grant relief. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02712 
CASE NAME: XAVIER-YOUNG VS. SPARE TIME 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed motion granted. 
 

  

10.  TIME:  10:15   CASE#: MSC20-00769 
CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS LOPEZ WEST PROPERTIES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY LOPEZ WEST 
PROPERTIES LLC, AN IDAHO LIMITED, LAUREN LOPEZ, MATTHEW LOPEZ, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendants Lopez West Properties, LLC, Lauren Lopez, Matthew Lopez and Dana Lopez’s 

motion for summary judgment is granted.  

The only cause of action currently at issue is Plaintiff’s claim against all Defendants for breach 

of contract. The remaining claims were ordered to arbitration and then stayed pending the 

outcome of the breach of contract claim.  

Statute of Limitations  

Defendants are moving for summary judgment, arguing that the breach of contract claim is time 

barred. The statute of limitations for breach of a written contract is four years. (Code of Civil 

Procedure section 337.)  

The breach of contract claim is based on an option agreement where Plaintiff had the option of 

becoming a member in the family company. (Comp. ¶14 and ex. A; Plaintiff’s ex. NN; ex. 5 to 

Dana, Lauren and Matthew depos.) Plaintiff alleges that he extended the time period where he 

could exercise the option until June 2020 and that he validly exercised the option in 2012, 2015 

and 2020.  

 “ ‘ “[A]n irrevocable option is a contract made for consideration, to keep an offer open for a 

prescribed period.” [Citations.]’ [Citation.]  [‘] [W]here there is an option contract, there are two 

contracts, the option contract and the contract to which it relates.’ [Citation.] The option contract 

‘is clearly different from the contract to which the irrevocable offer of the optionor relates, for the 

optionee by parting with special consideration for the binding promise of the optionor refrains 

from binding himself with regard to the contract or conveyance to which the option relates. . . 

. [T]he option contract gives the optionee a right against the optionor for performance of the 

contract to which the option relates upon the exercise of the option, which the optionor cannot 

defeat by repudiating the option. [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (City of Orange v. San Diego County 
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Employees Ret. Ass'n (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 45, 51-52; see also, 1 Witkin Sum. Cal. Law 

Contracts § 168.)  

“ ‘[T]he optionor has irrevocably promised upon the exercise of the option to perform the 

contract or make the conveyance upon the terms specified in his binding offer. [Citations.] . . . 

The creation of the final contract requires no promise or other action by the optionor, for the 

contract is completed by the acceptance of the irrevocable offer of the optionor by the optionee. 

'The contract has already been made, as far as the optionor is concerned, but is subject to 

conditions which are removed by the acceptance.' [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (City of Orange, supra, 

103 Cal.App.4th at 58.)  

Finally, the statute of limitations for breach of contract is subject to the delayed discovery rule. 

“The discovery rule protects those who are ignorant of their cause of action through no fault of 

their own. It permits delayed accrual until a plaintiff knew or should have known of the wrongful 

conduct at issue. [Citation.]  In the instant case the ultimate question is whether appellant 

exercised reasonable diligence in discovering respondents' [breach]. ‘It is plaintiff's burden to 

establish “facts showing that he was not negligent in failing to make the discovery sooner and 

that he had no actual or presumptive knowledge of facts sufficient to put him on inquiry.” 

[Citation.]’ [Citation.]” (April Enterprises, Inc. v. KTTV (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 805, 832.) Whether 

he plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence is often a question of fact for the jury to decide, 

however, summary judgment may be granted if “reasonable minds can draw only 

one conclusion from the evidence. [Citations.]” (Enfield v. Hunt (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 417, 419-

420.) 

The facts here are mostly undisputed. There is no dispute that the parties entered into an Option 

Agreement, that Plaintiff sent letters exercising the Option and that Defendants refused to 

accept Plaintiff’s exercise of the Option. There is also no dispute that the parties received the 

various relevant correspondence from each other. What is disputed, however, are how the law 

is applied to the facts.  

Defendants’ separate statement of material facts including that in December 2015 Plaintiff sent 

Defendant Dana a letter trying to exercise the option and that Dana responded in January 2016 

stating that the exercise of the option was no good. (Defendants’ exs. 2A, 2B.) Plaintiff then 

confirmed receiving this letter in February 2016 and filed his complaint in April 2020. 

(Defendants’ ex. 2C and Complaint.)  

Defendants’ material facts do not include the terms of the option agreement. Nor do they 

address whether Plaintiff had exercised the option or extended the time period for doing so. 

Such omissions would often result in the denial for a motion for summary judgment. Here, 

however, the additional material facts are provided by Plaintiff in the response to the separate 

statement and the evidence for these important facts was included in Defendant’s moving 

papers. Therefore, the Court will consider all admissible evidence provided by both sides when 

determining whether Defendants are entitled to summary judgment. 
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Plaintiff has sued the Defendants for breach of contract for failing to give his a 25% interest in 

Lopez West Properties, LLC. Plaintiff alleges that Lopez West Properties was formed in 2005, 

but due to certain legal disputes, Plaintiff did not take his interest in the company in 2005. 

(Comp. ¶12.)  

Plaintiff and the individual Defendants entered into an Option Agreement on June 25, 2005. 

(Comp. ¶14; Plaintiff’s ex. NN.) The Option Agreement was for a five-year period with an option 

to extend the agreement by another ten years at Plaintiff’s “sole option”. (Comp. ex.A; Plaintiff’s 

ex. NN; ex. 5 to Dana, Lauren and Matthew depos.) On June 10, 2010, Plaintiff mailed 

Defendant Dana a letter, extending the time he had to exercise the option by ten years. (Steve 

depo. 72:2-12, 74:1-4.) Whether Plaintiff effectively extended the time to exercise the option 

until 2020 appears to be a disputed fact, but for the purpose of this motion, the Court accepts 

Plaintiff’s evidence that he timely notified the Defendants of his intention to extend the time to 

exercise the option for ten years. Thus, Plaintiff had until June 2020 to exercise the option.  

Plaintiff then exercised his option on December 12, 2012. (Comp. ¶19 and ex. D; Plaintiff’s ex. 

G; Dana depo. 201:6-202:16.) He exercised the option a second time on December 28, 2015. 

(Comp. ¶25 and ex. E; Plaintiff’s ex. C; Dana depo. 380:5-18.) And finally, Plaintiff exercised the 

option a third time in April 2020. (Comp. ¶33 and ex. F; Plaintiff’s ex. S; Lauren depo. 193:21-

194:13.) There were no “non-reimbursed out-of-pocket amounts” advanced by the members of 

the company when Plaintiff made his three attempts to exercise the option. (Dana depo. 203:13-

20 (2012); 402:23-403:23 (2015); 404:6-8 (2020).) Thus, at each of these times, the purchase 

price under the Option Agreement was zero.  

Here, Plaintiff first exercised the option in December 2012. Thus, Defendants refusal to give 

Plaintiff his 25% interest in the company constituted breach of the Option Agreement in 2012.  

Plaintiff points out, however, that delayed discovery applies here. Defendants did not discuss 

the 2012 exercise of the option with Plaintiff until 2016. (Dana depo. 202:19-203:7.) Defendant 

Dana also admits that despite inquiries from Plaintiff about the company, he did not tell Plaintiff 

that Plaintiff was not a member of company until January 2016. (Dana depo. 380:19-386:13.) In 

addition, there were no distributions from the company until 2015. (Dana depo. 20:9-12.) Thus, 

Plaintiff was unware that the Defendants did not accept his exercise of the Option Agreement in 

2012. Under delayed discovery rules, the cause of action for breach of contract did not begin to 

accrue in 2012.  

In January 2016, Defendant Dana informed Plaintiff that Plaintiff had not timely exercised his 

option. (Plaintiff’s ex. D; Steve depo. 143:14:24; Defendants’’ ex. 2B.) Although the exact date of 

the letter is unknown, Plaintiff confirmed receipt of this letter in February 2016. (Defendants’ ex. 

2C; Steve depo. 152:15-23.) The January 2016 letter stated that the Defendants never received 

an extension of the Option Agreement and claimed that the option expired in June 2010. The 

letter also stated that Plaintiff’s “ ‘Exercise of Option to Purchase 1/4 Interest’ note dated 

December 12, 2012 is invalid.”  
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It is important to recognize that the January 2016 letter was not the breach of the Option 

Agreement, as the breach had already occurred. Instead, the January 2016 letter was notifying 

Plaintiff of the earlier breach. The Court’s analysis of the language in the January 2016 letter is 

focused on whether it caused a reasonable person to be suspicious that the Defendants were 

not accepting Plaintiff’s exercise of the option and thus, that Defendants had breached the 

Option Agreement. The Court finds that the language in the January 2016 letter would put any 

reasonable person on notice of the earlier breach. Therefore, the January 2016 letter was 

sufficient to start the running of the statute of limitations.  

The Court finds that the statute of limitations began running no later than February 15, 2016 (the 

day before Plaintiff sent a letter confirming receipt of the January 2016 letter). Therefore, the 

four-year statute of limitations expired on February 15, 2020. Plaintiff did not file this complaint 

until April 2020 and his breach of contract claim is time-barred.  

As discussed below, Plaintiff’s other arguments about the statute of limitations are not 

persuasive. The facts provided by the parties show that Defendants have met their burden on 

summary judgment by showing that the statute of limitations has run. In addition, Plaintiff has 

not shown that there are triable issues of any material facts related to the running of the statute 

of limitations. Therefore, the Court grants summary judgment for Defendants.  

Anticipatory Breach 

“A cause of action for breach of contract does not accrue before the time of breach. [Citations.] 

We have established that: ‘There can be no actual breach of a contract until the time specified 

therein for performance has arrived.’ [Citation.] Nonetheless, if a party to a contract expressly or 

by implication repudiates the contract before the time for his or her performance has arrived, an 

anticipatory breach is said to have occurred. [Citations.]” (Romano v. Rockwell Internat., 

Inc. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 479, 488-489.)  

“In the event the promisor repudiates the contract before the time for his or her performance has 

arrived, the plaintiff has an election of remedies--he or she may ‘treat the repudiation as an 

anticipatory breach and immediately seek damages for breach of contract, thereby terminating 

the contractual relation between the parties, or he [or she] can treat the repudiation as an empty 

threat, wait until the time for performance arrives and exercise his [or her] remedies for actual 

breach if a breach does in fact occur at such time.’ [Citations.]” (Ibid.; see also 1 Witkin Sum. 

Cal. Law Contracts § 886.)  

“An essential element of an anticipatory breach is that repudiation by the promisor occur before 

his performance is due. [Citations.]” (Fox v. Dehn (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 165, 171.) Thus, an 

“anticipatory breach” that occurs after performance is due is not anticipatory, it is just a breach.   

Plaintiff argues that the January 2016 letter was an anticipatory breach and that Plaintiff was not 

required to sue based on the January 2016. Plaintiff argue that they were instead permitted to 
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wait and sue on the April 2020 breach. This argument fails. The breach of the Option Agreement 

occurred in 2012. The January 2016 was notice of the 2012 breach, not an anticipatory breach.  

Continuous Accrual 

Plaintiff argues that the doctrine of continuous accrual applies here. “[S]eparate, recurring 

invasions of the same right can each trigger their own statute of limitations.” (Aryeh v. Canon 

Business Solutions, Inc. (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1198.) “[C]ontinuous accrual applies whenever 

there is a continuing or recurring obligation: ‘When an obligation or liability arises on a recurring 

basis, a cause of action accrues each time a wrongful act occurs, triggering a new limitations 

period.’ [Citation.] Because each new breach of such an obligation provides all the elements of a 

claim—wrongdoing, harm, and causation [citation]—each may be treated as an independently 

actionable wrong with its own time limit for recovery.” (Id at 1199.)  

Continuous accrual has been applied in installment contracts, contracts with periodic rental 

payments, contracts calling for periodic, and pension-like payments. (Armstrong Petroleum 

Corp. v. Tri-Valley Oil & Gas Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1375, 1388.) A party can also breach a 

non-disclosure clause more than once. (See, e.g. Jenni Rivera Enterprises, LLC v. Latin World 

Entertainment Holdings, Inc. (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 766, 785.) The Option Agreement is unlike 

of any these situations because it did not give rise to a continuing or recurring obligation. 

Instead, the Option Agreement gave Plaintiff the ability to exercise the option once and become 

a member of the company. The Option Agreement did not give Plaintiff the ability to exercise the 

option repeatedly until June 2020.  

Equitable Estoppel 

Finally, Plaintiff argues that equitable estoppel applies here. Arguably, equitable estoppel was 

alleged in the complaint as Plaintiff alleges that Defendants’ silence lulled Plaintiff into believing 

that Defendants had not breached the Option Agreement. (Comp. ¶38.)  

Equitable tolling “is concerned with the point at which the limitations period begins to run and 

with the circumstances in which the running of the limitations period may be suspended.” While 

equitable estoppel “comes into play only after the limitations period has run and addresses … 

the circumstances in which a party will be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations as a 

defense to an admittedly untimely action because his conduct has induced another into 

forbearing suit within the applicable limitations period.” (Lantzy v. Centex Homes (2003) 31 

Cal.4th 363, 383.) “To create an equitable estoppel, it is enough if the party has been induced to 

refrain from using such means or taking such action as lay in his power, by which he might have 

retrieved his position and saved himself from loss. …. Where the delay in commencing action is 

induced by the conduct of the defendant it cannot be availed of by him as a defense.” (Id. at 384 

[internal quotations omitted].)  

The Court is not convinced that Defendants have the initial burden on showing that equitable 

estoppel does not apply because, in this situation, equitable estoppel is really a defense to the 
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statute of limitations defense. But even if Defendants have the initial burden on this issue, they 

met their burden.  

Before January 2016, equitable tolling (not estoppel) may have applied to toll the statute of 

limitations. But the January 2016 letter put Plaintiff on notice that Defendants did not accept 

Plaintiff’s exercise of the Option Agreement thus ending any equitable tolling in January 2016. 

The January 2016 informed Plaintiff that the Defendants did not accept Plaintiff’s exercise of the 

option. After the January 2016 letter, Plaintiff and the individual Defendants did not discuss the 

January 2016 letter. (Steve depo. 156:6-20; Dana decl. ¶8.) Instead, Plaintiff sent letters in 

February and then in May 2016. (Steve depo. 156:6-20.) Thus, the evidence here shows that 

the Defendants did not lull Plaintiff into inaction. Finally, the July 2016 letter also makes it clear 

that Defendants did not accept Plaintiff’s exercise of the option. (Plaintiff’s Ex. LL.)  

Plaintiff does not offer admissible evidence of other actions by the Defendants that lulled Plaintiff 

into not filing suit. Instead, Plaintiff argues that the January 2016 letter by its language is enough 

for equitable estoppel. While the January 2016 letter does invite Plaintiff to explain why his 

exercise of the Option was valid, it cannot be read as lulling Plaintiff into thinking that he did not 

need to file suit.  

Other Matters  

Defendants’ request for judicial notice A, B and D to L are granted as filings in court case. 

Request for judicial notice C is granted. 

Defendants’ request for judicial notice submitted in the reply is denied. It appears this request 

for judicial notice was the Defendants’ attempt to provide copies of non-California authorities to 

the Court. (See, California Rules of Court, rule 3.1113(i).)  

The deposition testimony submitted by Plaintiff was not “marked in a manner that calls attention 

to the testimony” as required by California Rules of Court, rule 3.1116(c). The Court considered 

the deposition testimony submitted by Plaintiff. In the future, all parties are expected to comply 

with this rule.  

Finally, the Court is troubled by Plaintiff’s admission that he prepared the May 2010 email in 

2016. (Steve depo. 54:321.) This admission is in stark contrast to the allegations in Plaintiff’s 

complaint that “PLAINTIFF provided Defendant Dana Lopez notice of his decision to extend the 

option exercise period, on or around May 28, 2010, a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B.” (Comp. ¶17.) Exhibit B to the Complaint is a document that purports to be an email 

sent in May 2010. According to Plaintiff’s deposition testimony, the allegations about the May 

2010 email are false, yet when the complaint Plaintiff alleged that this email was sent in 2010.    

If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
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11.  TIME:  10:15   CASE#: MSC20-00769 
CASE NAME: LOPEZ VS LOPEZ WEST PROPERTIES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION FILED BY STEPHEN LOPEZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff Stephen Lopez’s motion for summary adjudication is denied.   

Plaintiff seeks summary adjudication of the following issues: (1) Defendants owed Plaintiff a 

duty to provide him a 25 percent interest in the company, (2) the affirmative defense that Plaintiff 

did not extend the option exercise period fails and (3) the affirmative defense that the claim is 

barred by the statute of limitations fails.  

In the accompanying motion for summary judgment brought by the Defendants, the Court’s 

ruling is that the Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim is time-barred. For the reasons explained in 

that motion, the Court denies summary adjudication on the statute of limitations issue because 

Plaintiff has not shown that his claim was timely filed. Summary adjudication of the other two 

issues is denied as moot given the Court’s ruling on Defendant’s motion for summary judgment.  

 
If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01660 
CASE NAME: GARY B ROTH VS KLAUS BERNAHRD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR IMPOSE SANCTIONS FOR FAILING TO COMPLY 
W/ LR 3.301 FILED BY KLAUS BERNHARD KUBLER, KLAUS KUBLER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Plaintiff has failed to explain why they failed to comply with local rule 3.300 when the 
Defendant sought to comply with that rule. According to the papers it was Plaintiffs who failed to 
respond to the facilitator outreach offering hearing dates in January 2021. That compelled 
Plaintiff to file an abortive motion which was denied because of the failure to engage with the 
facilitator. It seems like that order was incorrectly made. 
 
Now the Defendant seeks sanctions and to compel discovery and again bypassed local rule 
3.300. Even if there was a basis to bypass that rule, the underlying failure to cooperate is the 
cause of the motion. It is untimely. The motion to compel and for sanctions is denied. 
 
Both parties are ordered to comply with local rule 3.300 in any future discovery motions that are 
subject to the facilitator’s program. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02420 
CASE NAME: ROBINSON VS ANTIOCH UNIFIED SC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FILED BY 
ANTIOCH UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing continued per stipulation filed 8/3/21. Note: Date agreed to within the Stipulation was 
9/17/21 but Dept. 07’s 9/17/21 calendar is overbooked so the continued hearing date is 9/24/21 
at 9:00 a.m. in Dept. 07.  

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02420 
CASE NAME: ROBINSON VS ANTIOCH UNIFIED SC 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of JAYSON ROBINSON, A MINOR, BY 
AND THROUGH FILED BY ANTIOCH UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing continued per stipulation filed 8/3/21. Note: Date agreed to within the Stipulation was 
9/17/21 but Dept. 07’s 9/17/21 calendar is overbooked so the continued hearing date is 9/24/21 
at 9:00 a.m. in Dept. 07. 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00252 
CASE NAME: EAGLE BAY ENTERPRISES  VS CALI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SET ASIDE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY DAVID LAMPACH 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court are separate motions to set aside default and default judgment by defendants 

California Cannabinoids and David Lampach. For the reasons stated, the motions are denied. 

Relevant Background 

Plaintiff Eagle Bay Enterprises, Inc. ("Eagle Bay") alleges it loaned money to California 

Cannabinoids and that the loan was personally guaranteed by defendant David Lampach. Eagle 

Bay alleges California Cannabinoids failed to repay the loan when it came due.  

Eagle Bay filed its complaint for recovery of the amounts allegedly due from defendants on 

February 23, 2021. Eagle Bay filed proofs of service showing it served the summons and 

complaint by substituted service on California Cannabinoids on February 25, 2021, and on 

David Lampach on February 27, 2021.  

On Plaintiff's request, defaults were entered by the Clerk against each defendant on April 21, 

2021. Plaintiff subsequently filed an application for entry of default judgment against each 

defendant and an amended application on May 28, 2021. No judgment has been entered by the 

Court. 
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Motions for Relief from Default and Opposition 

Defendants each filed a motion to set aside default and any default judgment entered against 

them on June 7, 2021. Both defendants' motions show they are appearing "in pro per" without 

counsel.  

On June 21, 2021, the defendants filed a case management conference statement. David 

Lampach appeared in pro per at the case management conference held on June 29, 2021. The 

minutes reflect Mr. Lampach was advised by the Court that Mr. Lampach cannot appear on 

behalf of California Cannabinoids, a corporation.  

Neither of the motions to set aside default include a proof of service showing the motions were 

served on counsel for Eagle Bay. Eagle Bay has filed an opposition to the motions with a 

declaration by Eagle Bay's counsel attesting to the lack of service of the motions. Eagle Bay's 

opposition also points out that despite Mr. Lampach being advised by the Court at the June 29, 

2021 hearing that California Cannabinoids must be represented by counsel to appear in the 

case, counsel for Eagle Bay has not received any notice or filing indicating that any counsel has 

made an appearance on the entity's behalf. 

Requirements for Granting Relief under Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b) 

Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b) includes both a mandatory and a discretionary provision.  The 

discretionary provision states in pertinent part that "The court may, upon any terms as may be 

just, relieve a party or his or her legal representative from a judgment, dismissal, order, or other 

proceeding taken against him or her through his or her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or 

excusable neglect."  

Consistent with the purposes, the Court is required exercise its discretion to liberally grant relief 

from a default to allow the action to be determined on its merits. (Zamora v. Clayborn 

Contracting Group, Inc. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 249, 256 ["'the provisions of section 473 … are to be 

liberally construed and sound policy favors the determination of actions on their merits'"].) The 

law strongly favors granting relief to allow the party to have his day in court and resolve the case 

on the merits. (Rappleyea v. Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 980; Shapiro v. Clark (2008) 164 

Cal.App.4th 1128, 1139-1140.)  

These policies, however, do not mean that the Court can ignore non-compliance with the 

statutory requirements. An application for relief must be filed within six months of the date the 

judgment, dismissal, or proceeding was taken. (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b).) The Clerk's entry of 

default is considered a proceeding and is the date from which the six-month deadline is 

measured. (Garcia v. Gallo (1959) 176 Cal.App.2d 658, 669 ["courts have interpreted the clerk's 

entry of default as a "proceeding" taken against the party, which marks the beginning of the 

period, even though the judgment on the default is not entered until later."].) (See also Weiss v. 

Blumencranc (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 536, 541 [same].) The motion must also be accompanied by 

a copy of the answer or other pleading proposed to be filed. (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b); 

Henderson v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 215, 225.)  

In addition, the motion must be served on the other parties to the action, in this case counsel for 

Plaintiff Eagle Bay. (Arambula v. Union Carbide Corp. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 333, 340-342 
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("Arambula").) Failure to serve the motion for relief on counsel for the Plaintiff renders the 

motion defective. (Id. at 341, 342 [the "application for relief under the statute is deemed to be 

made upon filing in court of a notice of motion and service of the notice of motion on the adverse 

party." (Italics in original.)].) In Arambula, supra, 128 Cal.App.4th 333, the Court held that 

although the application for relief from default was timely filed within the six-month deadline of 

Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b), the moving party's failure to serve the motion until after the 

six-month deadline expired deprived the Court of jurisdiction to grant relief. (Id. at 341, 342.)  

Analysis 

The Court does not reach the merits of defendants' motions. Both of defendants' motions for 

relief are procedurally defective.  

A. Lampach Motion 

 

The motion filed by David Lampach does not include a proof of service. No proof of service has 

been separately filed with the Court showing Mr. Lampach ever served his motion papers on 

counsel for Plaintiff Eagle Bay, and counsel for Eagle Bay has filed a declaration affirming that 

he was not served with the motion. (Burns Decl. ¶¶ 2, 3.) Mr. Lampach's motion is defective for 

failure to serve the moving papers on Eagle Bay through its counsel. 

B. California Cannabinoids Motion 

 

Like Mr. Lampach's motion, the California Cannabinoids motion is defective for lack of service of 

the motion. There is no proof of service accompanying that entity's motion or a proof of service 

of the motion subsequently filed with the Court, and counsel for Eagle Bay denies he was 

served in his declaration in opposition to the motion. (Burns Decl. ¶¶ 2, 3.)  

The California Cannabinoids motion is also defective because that entity cannot appear in this 

Court as an in pro per party without counsel or through its non-attorney representative Mr. 

Lampach. (Merco Constr. Engineers, Inc. v. Municipal Court (1978) 21 Cal.3d 724, 730; 

Ferruzzo v. Superior Court (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 501, 503 ["The rule is clear in this state that, 

with the sole exception of small claims court, a corporation cannot act in propria persona in a 

California state court."].) The Court so informed Mr. Lampach at the June 29, 2021 case 

management conference. (6/29/2021 Minutes.) Mr. Lampach states in his declaration in support 

of the company's motion that he is the CEO of the company, but not an attorney. He therefore 

cannot represent California Cannabinoids in this case, including by presenting pleadings on its 

behalf. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00252 
CASE NAME: EAGLE BAY ENTERPRISES  VS CALI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SET ASIDE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY CALIFORNIA CANNABINOIDS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 
Please see Line 15 above. 
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17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00252 
CASE NAME: EAGLE BAY ENTERPRISES  VS CALI 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Mooted, see line 16 above. 
 

  

18.  TIME:  10:15    CASE#: MSC21-00569 
CASE NAME: LOPEZ/KEI VS FREEMAN 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: DEFT'S EX PARTE APP & TRO RE: PRELIM 
INJUNCTION SET BY DEPT. 07 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

The preliminary injunction is granted, but shall expire on February 20, 2022.  

Plaintiffs, Manuel Lopez and Helen J. Kei, as well as anyone acting on their behalf, are 

enjoined from damaging, destroying or demolishing any concrete work, grading, hot tub, or fire 

pit encroaching on their property (136 Twin Peaks Drive, Walnut Creek), as indicated on Exhibit 

C to the Declaration of Helen J. Kei. The strings placed by the survey work shall remain in 

place, but defendants may trim the flags with scissors to minimize “flapping” noises. 

The undertaking is set in the amount of $15,000, to be posted by defendants on or 

before August 20, 2021. (Code Civ. Proc. §§ 529, 995.710.)  

The Court observes that no evidentiary hearing was properly noticed and, despite 

several phone appearances having been noticed, no witness testimony will be permitted at the 

hearing. 

Nothing in this ruling shall affect the enforcement rights of the County. 

Background 

In April 2020, plaintiffs (“Uphill Neighbors”) purchased their home at 136 Twin Peaks 

Drive in Walnut Creek. When they hired a surveyor in October of that year, his survey indicated 

that there were certain encroachments on their property. (See Survey, Ex. C to Kei Decl.) The 

encroachments include portions of a concrete patio, a hot tub, and a gas fire pit. The 

encroachments appear to have been installed by their downhill neighbors, defendants Gregory 

and Dana Freeman (“Downhill Neighbors”).  

In October 2020, Uphill Neighbors provided a notice under Civil Code 1008, which, 

under certain circumstances, prohibits ripening of a prescriptive easement. In March 2021, 

Contra Costa County sent Uphill Neighbors a notice that demanded certain code violations be 

remedied. The violations included the patio, hot tub, and gas fire pit because they were 

constructed without permits and in violation of setback requirements. On March 18, 2021, Uphill 

Neighbors filed suit, asserting causes of action for trespass, negligence, nuisance, and 

ejectment.  
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Prior to answering, on April 1, 2021, Downhill Neighbors filed an ex parte request for a 

restraining order and order to show cause re preliminary injunction. Downhill Neighbors sought 

the injunctive relief to prevent demolition of their existing improvements. In support of the 

injunction, they submit a declaration from their former attorney, Doug Poulin, attaching 

communications from Uphill Neighbors in which they threaten to demolish the improvements. 

They also present a declaration by Dana E. Freemen, who attaches historical photographs 

showing certain aspects of the improvements (the “earthen berm” and grading work, as well as 

a pool deck) have existed for many decades. Dana E. Freeman claims the conditions have 

existed as they are now for “four or five years” since “2015 or 2016.”  

Downhill Neighbors later filed a cross-complaint alleging quiet title to a prescriptive 

easement, among other claims.  

Uphill Neighbors oppose the injunction, arguing that the prescriptive time period of five 

years was not satisfied, that the encroachments are illegal code violations, and any award of a 

prescriptive easement would improperly amount to an adverse possession claim without the 

required elements. Uphill Neighbors argue any prescriptive period was tolled when the prior 

owner was incapacitated, and that their need to renovate their property for their use weighs 

against the injunction since no renovations can occur until the code violations are remedied. 

They cite no evidence in support of their plans for renovation. 

Uphill Neighbors provide a declaration from the seller of the uphill property, who 

disclaims any knowledge of the encroachments and states the previous occupant of the home 

spent much time away in nursing homes. (See Decl. of Christy Topper.) Uphill Neighbors also 

submit a declaration by counsel attaching Google Earth satellite images that appear to show no 

construction in the disputed areas prior to October 31, 2015. 

Evidentiary Matters 

Uphill Neighbors’ Objections  

Declaration of Dana Freeman - all overruled 

Downhill Neighbors’ Objections  

Declaration of John Richards 

1. overruled 
2. overruled 
3. sustained, hearsay.  
4. sustained, hearsay.  
5. overruled 

Exhibits– all overruled 

Declaration of Helen J. Kei 

1. overruled 
2. overruled 
3. sustained, lack of foundation 
4. sustained, lack of foundation, improper opinion  
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5. sustained in part - document’s contents are hearsay  
6. overruled 
7. overruled 
8. overruled 
9. sustained, lack of foundation, improper opinion 
10. overruled 
11. overruled 
12. overruled 
13. overruled 
14. overruled 
15. sustained, speculative 
16. overruled 
17. sustained, conclusory 
18. sustained, conclusory 
19. sustained, hearsay 
20. sustained, hearsay 
21. sustained, speculative 
22. sustained, hearsay 
23. sustained, lack of foundation, improper opinion 
24. overruled 
25. overruled 
26. sustained, lack of foundation, improper opinion 
27. sustained, legal conclusion  
28. sustained, legal conclusion 
29. overruled 
30. overruled 

Exhibits– all overruled 

 

Discussion 

The general purpose of a preliminary injunction is to preserve the status quo pending a 

determination on the merits of the action and the granting or denial of a preliminary injunction 

does not amount to an adjudication of the ultimate rights in controversy. (Jamison v. Department 

of Transportation (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 356, 361.) 

An injunction may be granted when it appears, during the litigation, that a party to the 

action is doing, or threatens, or is about to do, or is procuring or suffering to be done, some act 

in violation of the rights of another party to the action respecting the subject of the action, and 

tending to render the judgment ineffectual. (Code Civ. Proc., § 526 (a)(3).) 

A court evaluates two interrelated factors when deciding whether to issue a preliminary 

injunction. “The first is the likelihood that the plaintiff will prevail on the merits at trial.” (Cohen v. 

Board of Supervisors (1985) 40 Cal.3d 277, 286.) The second is the interim harm that the party 

seeking the injunction will suffer if relief is denied, compared to the harm to the opposing party if 

granted. (Cohen, supra.) Regarding the first factor, the party seeking the injunction must 
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establish a “reasonable probability of success on the merits.” (Jessen v. Keystone Sav. & Loan 

Ass'n (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 454, 459.) “The trial court's determination must be guided by a 

‘mix’ of the potential-merit and interim-harm factors; the greater the […] showing on one, the 

less must be shown on the other to support an injunction.” (Butt v. State of California (1992) 4 

Cal.4th 668, 677-678.)  

1. Success on the Merits  

Parties here argue two separate points: whether the statute of limitations bars Uphill 

Neighbors’ claims and whether Downhill Neighbors have shown a probability of prevailing on a 

prescriptive easement theory.  

In their moving papers, Downhill Neighbors focus on the expiration of all relevant 

statutes of limitations, but unless and until the encroacher’s use of the property ripens into title 

by adverse possession or a valid prescriptive easement, the legal title holder’s right to bring an 

action to recover his or her property from the encroacher never expires. (Harrison v. Welch 

(2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1096.) 

As for whether Downhill Neighbors are entitled to a prescriptive easement, as they seek 

in the Cross-Complaint, the scope of any such easement is generally determined by actual use 

during the statutory period. (Thomson v Dypvik (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 329, 340.) The scope of 

a prescriptive easement may, however, be increased when the increase does not impose a 

substantially greater burden on the servient property. (Applegate v Ota (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 

702, 711.) The disputed area became generally blocked off from use by the Uphill Neighbors’ 

property many years ago. Though there is not much evidence to support what the scope of use 

was during the relevant period, the area appears to have been on the same side of the fence 

and “earthen berm” as the Downhill Neighbors. Downhill Neighbors do not present precise dates 

for when the improvements were made, but the dates of installation may not be determinative. 

The prescriptive easement claimed may turn out to be tantamount to an incomplete 

showing of adverse possession, but at this point, it appears there is some possibility that the 

Downhill Neighbors could ultimately prevail on the merits of their claim. (Butt, supra, 4 Cal.4th at 

p. 678.) 

2. Interim Harm 

The balance of harms here appears to favor issuance of an injunction. If the Uphill 

Neighbors wrongfully proceed with demolition, it would render any judgment in this action for the 

Downhill Neighbors ineffectual and, in requiring new improvements to be installed, create waste. 

Downhill Neighbors will be deprived of the property at issue. Such damage may be considered 

irreparable because in equity, each parcel of real property is considered unique.  

As for the harm to Uphill Neighbors, no evidence supports imminent renovation work. 

While the County could impose fines for unpermitted work on the property, the amount of any 

fines would be quantifiable monetary damages that could be awarded in a judgment.  

While the Downhill Neighbors’ showing on the first prong is not particularly strong, Uphill 

Neighbors have presented little evidence (as opposed to argument) of harm they will suffer if the 
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injunction is granted for a limited period of time. Because the two prongs are interrelated, and 

because Downhill Neighbors have shown some possibility of prevailing, an injunction to 

preserve the status quo here appears justified.  

3. Undertaking 

Code of Civil Procedure, § 529 provides: 

On granting an injunction, the court or judge must require an undertaking on the part of 

the applicant to the effect that the applicant will pay to the party enjoined any damages, 

not exceeding an amount to be specified, the party may sustain by reason of the 

injunction, if the court finally decides that the applicant was not entitled to the injunction.  

Uphill Neighbors request the bond be set at $50,000, but do not support the number. 

Downhill Neighbors fail to address the amount of an undertaking. The undertaking is set at 

$15,000. 

If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-01122 
CASE NAME: NAIDU VS SINGH/DEVI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of NAIDU FILED BY MELVIN 
KRISHNIL SINGH, SIMLA DEVI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed demurrer sustained with leave to amend. The Plaintiff is admonished to draft a 
complaint that clearly sets forth the factual and legal basis for the claims. The First Amended 
Complaint is to be served and filed no later than 8/31/21. 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1169 
CASE NAME: RE LOPEZ 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Unopposed motion granted. 
 

  

21.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC17-01539 
CASE NAME: MAGDALENO VS HACIENDA MOBILE 
JURY TRIAL - LONG CAUSE/ 10 DAY(S) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Case Settled. Trial dropped from calendar.  

ADDON 
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22.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-0572 
CASE NAME: DOCTOR'S ASSOCIATES, LLC VS TR 
HEARING ON PETITION TO CONFIRM CONTRACTUAL ARBITRATION AWARD ( 
FILED BY DOCTOR'S ASSOCIATES LLC) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion granted. There is no good reason to delay an Order confirming the arbitration. 
 

  

23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00399 
CASE NAME: BOLTON VS SHINAMAN, ET AL. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR QUASH PLAINTIFF'S DEPOSITION SUBPOENA 
FILED BY DR. RICHARD SHINAMAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion granted. Sanctions are granted in the sum of $350 payable by 8/30/21, this amount may 
be increased if counsel are required to attend court to argue and if the ruling is unchanged. 
 
The opposition was not served as directed. There is no proof of service filed. But even if served, 
it would not change the outcome. 
 
The parties are reminded to comply with local rule 3.300 for any future discovery disputes 
 

  

 24.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00399 
CASE NAME: BOLTON VS SHINAMAN, ET AL. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR QUASH PLAINTIFF'S DEPOSITION SUBPOENA 
FILED BY DR. RICHARD SHINAMAN, PAIN MEDICINE CONSULTANTS, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion granted. Sanctions are granted in the sum of $350 payable by 8/30/21, this amount may 
be increased if counsel are required to attend court to argue and if the ruling is unchanged. 
 
The opposition was not served as directed. There is no proof of service filed. But even if served, 
it would not change the outcome. 
 
The parties are reminded to comply with local rule 3.300 for any future discovery disputes. 
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25.  TIME:  10:15   CASE#: MSN20-1850 
CASE NAME: ROBERTSON VS SMITH ET AL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE RE: CONTEMPT 
FILED BY BERNICE ROBERTSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Petitioner has met her initial burden of proving that the Respondents are  guilty of  
contempt(s) of the Court Order dated April 16th, 2021 pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure §§ 
681.010, 717.010, and 121(a). Accordingly the court cites the Respondents for Contempt of 
Court and issues an Order to Show Cause re: Contempt as requested; 
 

1. The hearing date on the order to show cause is November 19th at 9 a.m. Petitioner will 
bear the burden of proving, at that hearing, that the Respondents are guilty of 
Contempt(s) of the Court Order dated April 16th, 2021, beyond a reasonable doubt. 

2. The parties are ordered to mediation to be concluded by the end of August, the costs of 
which are to be shared but will be considered a cost of these proceedings. The 
mediation is to be with an agreed on mediator who is to assist the parties’ efforts to 
reach an agreement along the lines of the Fanelli agreement. Agreement is to be 
reached by the time of the hearing or the Court will select a Mediator. 

3. If the mediation fails by the end of August, 2021, the parties are ordered to forthwith 
engage in good faith efforts to finalize an agreement following the Arbitrator’s decision 
which is now an Order of this Court. Exhibit 32 to the Arbitrator’s award, is the factual 
basis to enforce an agreement with boilerplate and ancillary terms. These efforts are to 
begin on 9/1/21, are to be documented, and will be part of the opposition and reply in 
due course. The Defendants, in particular, are ordered to comply with the Arbitrators 
award and further ordered to better co-operate with reaching a final agreement by not 
later than September 20th. The Court admonishes the Defendants that there may be 
serious consequences arising out of a failure to meet and confer in good faith so as 
reach agreement so as to enforce the provisions of the arbitration award.  The 
Defendants should be mindful that the Plaintiff is claiming that the Respondents are 
intentionally undermining and circumventing the Arbitrator’s award which is an Order of 
this Court and that such conduct is ongoing. 

4. The opposition, if necessary, will be filed by September 22nd, and the reply, if necessary 
by October 22nd. The court has determined that the enforceability of the award is not in 
doubt and hopes that both parties will now fully co-operate in reaching a resolution of the 
issues needed to close the deal as required. 

5. If there is a material dispute as to the Respondents intentions, the above hearing date 
will operate as the trial date. The parties are to comply with this Departments Pre-Trial 
order and are to be ready to begin trial on that date. 

6. An order after hearing is to be submitted by Plaintiff forthwith, and no later than 8/20/21, 
hopefully with approval as to the form. The order is effective forthwith, regardless of 
when an order after hearing is actually entered.  

 
If this ruling is timely contested the hearing will be in person at, at the courthouse, at 10:15 a.m. 
 

 


